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Foreword by the Presiding Officer 

In previous years, the SPCB’s Annual Report has provided Members of the Scottish 
Parliament with an overview of the issues the SPCB has been engaged with over the 
past year.  Following consideration of a recommendation from our Advisory Audit 
Board, for the first time we have combined our Annual Report with the Annual 
Accounts Report, providing a full picture of the administration of the Parliament in a 
single Report.  This report covers the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015.  

It has been one of the most high-profile periods in our Parliament’s history as we 
lived through events leading up to the Referendum on Independence for Scotland, in 
September 2014.  The SPCB had a key role in ensuring the Scottish Parliament 
maintained a position of neutrality during this period. To assist, guidance was 
produced to ensure all MSPs and staff were aware of the appropriate use of 
parliamentary resources.  

However we also recognised the opportunity that this unique experience offered, as 
the attentions of the world focussed on Scotland’s decision.   We developed a fully 
functional media village, to ensure global coverage promoted an iconic and positive 
view of the Parliament, during the weeks around the vote. 

Following the vote, we have strengthened our public engagement to make sure we 
recognise the groundswell of new interest generated by the Referendum.  A new 
programme of engagement is well underway, with Parliament Days, special events, 
and committee work all focussed on building participation and seeking input from all 
of Scotland’s communities.  

Important work had already started before the Referendum too and that continues to 
develop. Further parliamentary reform; advancement of our digital services and 
improving our building facilities for the public’s use have all been progressed this 
year.  

We also saw a change to the membership of the Corporate Body with the resignation 
of David Stewart MSP and the election of John Pentland MSP. I would like to take 
this opportunity to record my thanks to David for his contribution to the SPCB, and to 
welcome John to the team.  

My thanks to all my SPCB colleagues for their support and commitment over the year 
and I am pleased to present this report on their behalf.   

 
 
 
 
 

The Rt Hon Tricia Marwick MSP 
Presiding Officer and Chair of the  
Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body 
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW 
 
Timing of the Report 
 
This year’s Annual Report and Accounts covers the period from 1 April 2014 to 31 
March 2015. 
 
History and Statutory Background 
 
The SPCB was established in May 1999 under Section 21 of The Scotland Act 1998 
(the Act). The SPCB comprises the Presiding Officer, and four other members of the 
Scottish Parliament elected by the Parliament. The SPCB has appointed a Clerk 
(who is also the Chief Executive) in accordance with Section 20 of the Act, and other 
staff of the Parliament. The SPCB is independent of the Scottish Government. 
 
Principal Activities 
 
The Parliament exists to represent the people of Scotland by debating issues of 
national importance, passing legislation and holding the Scottish Government to 
account. 
 
The SPCB has a duty to provide the Scottish Parliament, or ensure the Parliament is 
provided, with the property, staff and services required for this purpose. The 
Parliament may also give general or specific directions for the purpose of, or in 
connection with, the SPCB’s functions. 
 
The SPCB provides the infrastructure (including the Holyrood Building), pays the 
salaries of members and reimburses the expenses which enable them to undertake 
their duties both at the Parliament and in their local offices. It provides the facilities 
and staff to allow the Parliament and its Committees to meet and to encourage public 
awareness of and engagement with the parliamentary process. 
 
The staff of the Scottish Parliamentary Service (SPS) is employed to enable the 
SPCB to fulfil its duty 
 
Review of the Principal Activities 
 
The principal activities of the SPCB and its staff during the year were the continued 
support of the work of the Parliament and its members.  
 
The strategic plan sets out the four main aims for this work and eight priorities for 
change. These were delivered through a combination of core service provision and a 
number of strands and key activities.  
 
Further information is also contained in the Scottish Parliament Annual Report 2014-
15 (also available in Gaelic language version) which is available on The Scottish 
Parliament website, www.scottish.parliament.uk. 
 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/The__Scottish_Parliament_Strategic_Plan_v1.0.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/15025.aspx
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
 
The SPCB continues to identify and manage the principal risks to our activities and 
the controls and actions that have been designed to mitigate these. Specifically, we 
have recognised and continue to take action to ensure that the Parliamentary service 
is able to respond to changes in the Parliament’s powers. In addition, by way of our 
Business Continuity management arrangements, we continue to manage the impact 
on supporting Parliamentary business in the event of unavailability of the Holyrood 
building and infrastructure for business. More detail is included on the Risk Register 
in the Performance Analysis section of the Annual Report and Accounts and the 
Governance Statement. 
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Performance Summary 
 

Parliamentary Business

100% parliamentary business takes place as 

scheduled

Organisational Performance Framework 

2014-15 Summary

The Parliamentary Service

% Outturn against SPCB budget for financial 

year within target range of 0–5% under SPCB 

budget for Quarters 1 and 2 and 0-2.5% for 

Quarters 3 and 4

Strategic activities on track

Compliance monitoring report on track

Planned strategic risk mitigating actions are 

being implemented

Public Engagement

Operational Public Engagement KPIs are on 

target:  participation, openness, reaching out 

and understanding 

Quarter 

1
Quarter 

2

Members Feedback

Number of interviews conducted

 

Key:  RAG Status   On Track (Yes/No)

 
      

        

A GR

100% 100%

11

2.6%









4.3%









Note: KPI reduced from 0-5% in Q1 & Q2 to 0-2.5% during Q3 & Q4.

Compliance is amber in Quarter 1 due to a technical breach of FOI, and late submission of office 

health and safety inspection reports.

Compliance is amber in Quarter 4 primarily because the carbon emissions target was narrowly 

missed due to a one-off incident involving a leak of refrigerant gas.

Members interviewed are in amber due to the figure being lower than target.

Quarter 

3
Quarter 

4

100% 100%

14

1.2%

 







 

1212

3.1%
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Indication of Likely Future Developments 
 
A forward look is included within the Operational Performance Framework Q4 Report 
on priorities for change within the Performance Analysis section of the Annual Report 
and Accounts (page 26). 
 
Position at End of Year 
 
The net operating cost for 2014-15 was £87.7m including a pension charge of £2.2m 
(see note 4) (2013-14 £79.0m including a pension charge of £2.4m (see note 4)).  
Salaries of parliamentary staff, MSPs and other office holders accounted for £35.4m 
(2013-14 £33.2m) of this total as disclosed in Note 2 to the Accounts. The 
reimbursement of Members’ Expenses, which enables MSPs to secure staff and 
accommodation to assist them in the discharge of their Parliamentary duties, was 
£12.0m (2013-14 £12.0m) as disclosed in Note 4 to the Accounts. Information on the 
financial position is contained in the Financial Statements with further disclosure in 
the Notes to the Accounts. 
 
Under accounting rules a building revaluation is required every 5 years. Accordingly, 
as the last valuation was in 2009-10, an independent valuation of the Holyrood 
building was completed in 2014-15 following RICS guidance and appropriate 
accounting rules and is reflected in our accounts. The building was valued at £304m. 
The revaluation resulted in a loss on revaluation of property chargeable against 
revaluation reserves of £8.1m compared to an indexation gain of £19.2m in 2013-14 
as disclosed in Note 6 to the Accounts. Artwork and donated assets are 
professionally valued on the basis of Insurance every 5 years. The third professional 
valuation took place during 2014-15 and this increased the Revaluation Reserve by 
£0.2m as disclosed in Note 6 to the Accounts. 
 
Capital expenditure in 2014-15 amounted to £1.9m (2013-14 £4.9m) and is detailed 
in Notes 6 and 7 to the accounts.   
 
Due to changes in actuarial factors in 2014-15, there was a net loss of £6.7m on 
pension reserves compared to a gain of £3.4m in 2013-14 as disclosed in Note 3 to 
the Accounts.  
 
At the end of the financial year 15 staff (2013-14, 12 staff) were on secondment from 
other organisations. 
 
Although the Commissioners and Ombudsman function independently of the SPCB, 
the SPCB is responsible for funding their activities. Further detail is contained in Note 
19 to the Accounts.  
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 
 
A more detailed report on the work of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body 
follows: 
 

SECTION 1 – EFFECTIVE SUPPORT OF MEMBERS AND PARLIAMENTARY 
BUSINESS  
 
One of the key roles of the SPCB is to ensure that Members of the Scottish 
Parliament receive the services they require to support them in their parliamentary 
duties. 
 
This section provides a summary of the matters considered and the decisions taken 
by the SPCB on providing support to Members and the business of the Parliament. 
 
Supporting Members 
 
1.1 Referendum 
 
Comprehensive guidance on the use of resources in the run up to the Referendum 
was issued to all Members.  We issued similar guidance to all Members in 
connection with the UK parliamentary general election held in 2015. 
 
1.2 Reimbursement of Members’ Expenses Scheme 
 
In December 2009, the McIntosh examination of the expenses scheme produced a 
number of recommendations for change, one of which was that Members should not 
be able to claim for the reimbursement of staff salary costs for employing family 
members.  The existing arrangements for any family member of staff employed 
would continue until the date of the next Scottish Parliamentary election and 3 
months thereafter.  This was unanimously agreed by the Parliament and the date for 
implementation was set  as 31 July 2015.   
 
Since this recommendation was agreed, the date of the next Scottish parliamentary 
election was moved to May 2016.  In light of this, the SPCB lodged a motion, 
subsequently agreed by the Parliament, to extend the existing transitional 
arrangements up until 31 July 2016 in line with the original intent of the McIntosh 
recommendation.  
 
At the same time, the SPCB lodged a motion to break the link to Westminster on 
MSP salaries.  Previously set at 87.5% of MPs’ pay, the Scottish Parliament agreed 
an amendment to the Scottish Parliament Salaries Scheme which replaced that link 
with a new mechanism that now directly links MSPs’ salaries to future public sector 
pay rises in Scotland.  
 
The SPCB also considered a number of matters in relation to the management of the 
Members’ Reimbursement of Expenses Scheme including a number of applications 
under the disability costs provision. 
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1.3 Digital Parliament 
 
Work continued on the digital programme, introduced in 2013 with the aim of 
harnessing the benefits of digital working for Members, the public and the staff 
organisation.  The programme vision is that by 2016 Members will be able to 
consume our services digitally, enabling them to connect, communicate and 
collaborate successfully with others when, where and in a way that suits them best. 
 
Members have already started to change how they are working, doing more on the 
go and communicating and collaborating through social media.  In the last few years, 
there has been a noticeable move to more mobile ways of working amongst 
Members.  Usage of social media is high with 93% of Members using Facebook 
and/or Twitter.  To support this, all Members have a smartphone and 82% of 
Members now have a tablet device.   
 
The first digital change in April 2014 was the introduction of digital meeting packs for 
committees and other meetings - essentially bookmarked PDFs which allow access 
to documents on mobile devices.  This provides a format that can be easily 
accessed, shared and annotated if required, reducing the need for paper copies, and 
allowing Members to do more on the go.  In addition, more Members are moving 
towards consuming parliamentary information digitally.  As a result, since the start of 
the year there has been a 22% reduction in the demand for printed business 
publications. 
 
As part of our planning for providing support for these changing working practices, 
extensive interviews were carried out with Members and with business areas 
supporting Members.  Analysis of this feedback has informed the new developments 
summarised below:  
 

 A Members’ Portal to provide Members with a single point of access to 
relevant information and services. The first iteration of the Members’ Portal 
was released in December 2014.  

 A mobile version of Motions, Amendments, Questions and Answers (MAQA), 
which allows Members to submit Motions and Questions from mobile devices, 
was launched in March 2015.  This replaces the self-service system 
previously in use and can be accessed from the Members’ Portal.  

 
The Scottish Parliament Information Centre (SPICe) worked closely with Napier 
University to develop an online interactive tool to help Members scrutinise and 
explore the Scottish Government’s draft budget.   This was launched in October 
2014. 
 
This was the first year the Parliament had the task of scrutinising the new tax powers 
devolved by the Scotland Act (2012), and SPICe also developed an interactive tool 
to allow Members to vary rates, bands and some of the underlying assumptions, in 
relation to the new Land and Buildings Transactions Tax.   
 
Work was also completed on harnessing commercial survey software to streamline 
the process of collating responses to MSP consultations on Member’s Bill proposals. 



Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body Annual Report and Accounts 2014-15 
Performance Report 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

11 

 

1.4 SPCB Questions 
 
There are a number of ways in which Members are able to question the SPCB and 
hold it to account.  We would always encourage any Member to approach an SPCB 
member directly with a query but Members can also lodge questions formally for 
written answer or for answer as part of a SPCB Question Time in the Chamber. 
 
During the period of this report the Corporate Body hosted three question times in 
the Chamber, in June, November and March, responding to 18 oral questions in 
total. The topics included progress on environmental targets, steps to maximise the 
benefits of digital working, the issuing of security passes, and support for school 
visits from remote and rural areas. 
 
In addition, the SPCB responded to 11 written parliamentary questions over the year, 
on subjects including the costs of non-MSP sponsored events and translation 
facilities for the lodging of motions. 
 
Copies of the oral and written PQs answered by the SPCB can be found on the 
Parliament’s website: 
 
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/motions-questions-and-
answers.aspx 
 
Supporting Parliamentary Business 
 
1.5 Business Publications  
 
This year we have put in place plans for developing our business publications (e.g. 
Business Bulletin, Committee Reports and SPICe briefings).  For example, it is 
envisioned that Members will be provided with a Business Bulletin that will allow 
them to navigate easily to related parliamentary data and other information, such as 
links to bills, motions, mobile MAQA etc. We also anticipate that SPICe research 
papers will become more graphically interactive. Over time, as we improve what’s 
available on line, and its functionality, we anticipate a gradual shift to digital, reducing 
the reliance on print, although hard copies will still be available on request.  
 
Officials also worked with the Scottish Government and partners at Westminster and 
The National Archive to consider options for replacement software to handle the 
drafting, amending and publication of legislation. 
 
1.6 Officeholders 
 
The SPCB continued to support six offices: 
 

 Scottish Public Services Ombudsman 

 Scottish Information Commissioner 

 Scottish Commission for Human Rights 

 Commissioner for Children and Young People in Scotland 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/motions-questions-and-answers.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/motions-questions-and-answers.aspx
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 Commissioner for Ethical Standards in Public Life in Scotland 

 Standards Commission for Scotland 
 
For each of these offices, the SPCB is responsible for approving the annual budget, 
setting the officeholder’s terms and conditions of appointment, approving any staffing 
determination in terms of numbers and grades, approving advisers’ and assessors’ 
fees, and approving any accommodation moves. 
 
At the start of the reporting year, the SPCB met with all the officeholders on an 
individual basis to discuss what priorities they had in place for the year ahead. 
 
During the course of the year, the SPCB also agreed amongst other things the 
following: 
 

 Two requests from the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman for contingency 
funding for legal fees in respect of a court case where they were a named party 
and also required legal advice;. 

 

 Relocation of the Commissioner for Children and Young People in Scotland due 
to lack of space and to reduce his annual property costs; 

 

 A request from the Standards Commission for Scotland for a contingency fund 
application to cover the cost of unbudgeted Hearings which were held in the last 
two months of the 2013-14 financial year. 

 

 Evidence submitted to the Finance Committee on the Welfare Fund (Scotland) 
Bill. 

 

 To work with the Education and Culture Committee to seek further information 
from the Commissioner for Children and Young People in relation to a request for 
additional staffing. 

 
 
1.7 UK and International Relations 
 
The SPCB ensures that support is provided to the Presiding Officers and other 
MSPs participating in outward visits and receiving inward delegations.  Some of the 
main areas of work during this year included: 
 

 Liam McArthur MSP participated in a post-election seminar, organised by the 
CPA Secretariat, in Lilongwe in June 2014, for parliamentarians who had been 
newly elected to the National Assembly of Malawi. 

 

 The Presiding Officer and the Chief Executive met with the Westminster 
Foundation for Democracy sponsored Network of Parliamentary Committees on 
Economy, Finance and European Integration of the Western Balkans (the 
Network) in Podgorica, Montenegro, on 16 June.  The Presiding Officer also met 
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with Speakers and Deputy Speakers from a number of Parliaments represented 
on the Network while in Montenegro. 

 
A parliamentary delegation from the Network also visited the Scottish Parliament 
on 25 and 26 June.  The delegation consisted of the Chairs of the Budget 
Committees of the various member legislatures and includes one of the Deputy 
Speakers of the Serbian Parliament.  The main focus of their visit was 
parliamentary oversight and scrutiny of government.   

 

 In October Deputy Presiding Officer Elaine Smith MSP visited Auschwitz and 
Birkenau as part of the Lessons from Auschwitz schools project run by the 
Holocaust Educational Trust to consider the scope for possible future Scottish 
Parliament involvement with the project. 
 

 Deputy Presiding Officer John Scott MSP represented the Parliament at events in 
the Flemish Parliament and Flanders Field around the commemoration of World 
War I. 

 

 Siobhan McMahon MSP represented the Parliament at the 6th Commonwealth 
Parliamentary Association Youth Parliament in South Africa in November 2014. 

 

 The Presiding Officer represented the Scottish Parliament at the Sir John A 
Macdonald 200th anniversary commemoration in Kingston, Canada in January 
2015.  The Presiding Officer also gave two speeches at Queen’s University.  
 

 Also in January, the Presiding Officer met the Prime Minister to discuss the 
publication of the UK Government’s draft Bill in response to the Smith 
Commission report. 

 

 In February 2015 Deputy Presiding Officer Elaine Smith MSP led a delegation of 
two Members and two officials to the National Assembly of Malawi as part of the 
10th anniversary of the first visit by MSPs to the Assembly. The delegation 
undertook a series of workshops for Assembly Members. 

 
1.8 Business Continuity 

Business continuity is essential for ensuring we have plans in place to cover any 
unforeseen incident.  During the course of the year the SPCB agreed a series of 
guiding principles based on our experience of operating in the Parliament.  These 
principles will form the basis for further work to refresh the invocation plan for using 
an alternative site in an emergency, to identify additional potential venues that could 
support parliamentary business, and, once identified, develop specific plans for each 
venue.  

An ‘Alert Message’ system is in place to aid communication with Members in the 
event of an incident and a test is carried out annually over the winter period.   
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1.9 SPCB Policies and Strategies 
 
Over the period of this report the SPCB reviewed and agreed a number of policies 
and strategies which impact on Members and the work of the Parliament.  They 
were: 
 

 Strategic Plan 

 Shared Parental Leave policy  

 Public Engagement Strategy 
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SECTION 2 – ENCOURAGE PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT WITH THE PARLIAMENT 
 
The SPCB is committed to enabling the public to engage with and participate in the 
business of the Scottish Parliament.   
 
An expanded programme of Parliament Days was introduced and supported over the 
year, and in March the “Inspiring Young Women” event for young women from 
schools around the country was held in the Parliament. A public engagement 
strategy was approved by the SPCB in March, and a Committee Engagement 
strategy is being developed which will put engagement at the heart of all committee 
work. 
 
2.1 Parliament Days 
 
The Parliament Day initiative continues to be a popular part of the Presiding Officer’s 
reform programme with a further four held during the period of this report (detailed 
below). 
 
Staff from across the Parliament worked together to ensure the success of each 
Parliament Day.  Teams from Security, Committee Office, Outreach Services, 
Events, Official Report, Broadcasting, Visitor Services, and Media Relations were all 
involved in the preparation for and implementation of the series of committee 
meetings and local events which aimed to encourage participation by local people. 
 
Fort William 

On 23 - 24 November, Parliament Day Fort William took place with a series of events 
including a civic reception at West Highland College UHI – Fort William campus.  
The Local Government and Regeneration Committee held informal meetings in the 
area as part of their inquiry on the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Bill.   

Members from the Devolution (Further Powers) Committee took the opportunity to 
meet with local 16-17 year olds at Lochaber High School to find out about their 
recent experience of voting for the first time. Meanwhile, regional MSPs for the 
Highlands and Islands visited three local Primary schools to find out what matters to 
young people in the area.  All three schools had a visit by a member of the Outreach 
Education team ahead of their MSPs coming into school to help them get the most 
out of the visit. 

Levenmouth 

Parliament Day Levenmouth took place on 8 December.  The Presiding Officer 
chaired a public meeting at Methilhill Primary School as an opportunity for local 
people to meet their MSPs and discuss the issues facing the local community.  The 
Presiding Officer was joined by David Torrance MSP, Claire Baker MSP, Willie 
Rennie MSP and Annabelle Ewing MSP.  Questions ranged from the role of 
committees and more opportunities for the Parliament to hold outreach events such 
as Parliament Days, to topics such as getting political parties to agree and votes for 
16 and 17 year olds. 
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Members of the Devolution (Further Powers) Committee met with local 16 and 17 
year olds from Buckhaven High School and Kirkland High School to find out about 
their experiences of voting for the first time while Outreach staff talked to pupils at 
Methilhill Primary School about their Parliament at a special assembly. 

Dumfries 

Dumfries’ Parliament Day was held on 23 February.  As part of the event, the Public 
Petitions Committee held a meeting at Easterbrook Hall.   

A communities conference was held, where MSPs and Parliament staff came 
together with local community groups, voluntary organisations, charities, social 
enterprises, civic groups and community activists.  Themes discussed were: 

 practical ways of engaging successfully with MSPs and the Parliament 

 how Cross Party Groups work 

 using social media in campaigns 

 what the Parliament’s Committees do 

 how to work successfully with your local MSPs 

 the opportunities for Events and Exhibitions at Parliament  

 our petitions process  
 

Easterhouse 

Parliament Day Easterhouse took place at The Bridge, Westerhouse Road on 16 
March 2015. 

The Equal Opportunities Committee held a formal meeting in the afternoon to 
discuss with local people and a range of organisations their Age and Social Isolation 
inquiry. 

The Presiding Officer then hosted a public meeting with local MSPs and MSPs from 
the Equal Opportunities Committee, allowing local people to find out more about their 
Parliament and how it works. 

2.2 Committee engagement 

Committees have continued to look for ways of engaging directly with organisations 
and individual members of the public to inform their work.  In addition to taking part in 
the Parliament Days referenced above, Committees have visited communities 
across Scotland and the SPCB has continued to support this. But Committees are 
also increasingly making use of technologies and social media to facilitate 
communication and we aim to ensure resource is available to support and develop 
these areas.  
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2.3 Referendum – Media Village 
 
In the week leading up to the Referendum we facilitated access to the Scottish 
Parliament for journalists from all over the world.  In order to provide broadcasters 
with adequate space and a view of the Parliament building for their shots and TV 
programmes, double height structural platforms along with power and associated 
facilities were built in the landscaped garden area.  The broadcasters’ village opened 
on Saturday 13 September and closed on Tuesday 23 September.  During its peak 
(three days before and after the Referendum), we accommodated over 800 
accredited broadcasting staff in and around the village.  A number of platform 
positions were also allocated to global video news organisations covering over 30 
countries worldwide.   An information centre was established where the visiting 
media could pick up their passes and get information about the Parliament, together 
with a waiting area for guests who were being interviewed on TV programmes.  All 
the main UK broadcasters anchored programmes on the Referendum from this 
village.  SPCB staff from across the Parliament volunteered to assist with managing 
the village and the accreditation of visiting media. 
 
2.4 Festival of Politics 

The 10th Festival of Politics took place from Friday 15 to Sunday 17 August 2014.  
The theme of the Festival was “What next for Scotland?”  The Festival provided a 
neutral platform for informed debate and discussion of key issues pertinent to the 
Referendum.  The theme was developed in line with Referendum guidance as 
agreed by the SPCB.  Recognising the importance and sensitivity of the 
Referendum, great care was taken to ensure that there was no perception of 
advantage or disadvantage to either side of the debate in either individual panel 
sessions or the programme as a whole..  

The Festival was attended by over 5,000 people, an increase of almost 1,000 visitors 
compared to the 2013 event.  88% of all tickets were sold in an increased 
programme of 20 events and almost a third of all events were completely sold out.  

Formal feedback from the Presiding Officer, Members, senior Parliament staff, 
panellists and audience members was overwhelmingly positive.  An audience survey 
reported that almost 60% rated it as an excellent experience.  

There were over 40,000 page views on the Scottish Parliament’s website between 
Friday 18 July and Thursday 21 August.  Festival Tweets reached over 223,000 
people with 91% of Festival comments being of a positive nature.  

The Festival Cafe Bar in the Garden Lobby was again a very successful focal point 
for Festival audiences to congregate in pre and post events and enjoy the 
programme of entertainment, food and drink on offer throughout Saturday and 
Sunday.   
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2.5 Web and Social Media 
 

Twitter and Facebook 
 
The corporate Facebook page and Twitter account have both grown considerably 
over the year.  Facebook has had a 150% increase in “likes” while Twitter has grown 
from just over 23,000 followers to over 43,000 (as at 31 March 2015).  The three 
month period leading up to the Referendum saw an increase of 30%. 
 
The public now expect dialogue and discussion with the Parliament rather than just 
information and our communication must be two-way, interactive and informative.  
Digital ways of working can provide engagement which also informs.  
 
Officials are examining how we can build on the increasing usage of social media 
channels across the Parliament.  Our focus will be to match the purpose and 
audience with the medium.  Similarly, there is a review of the online strategy which 
will capture, amongst other things, how we can enable an interactive dialogue 
through the website.  
 
A number of committees are adopting innovative approaches to seeking views on 
inquiries and bills such as producing videos and podcasts to encourage interest and 
seeking views via video, online surveys and encouraging views via Facebook.  We 
will continue to support these initiatives.  
 
The Presiding Officer joined Twitter in November, using her first tweet to launch the 
Apprentices programme. 
 
2.6 Public Information  
 
A new complaints handling process for the SPCB came into effect on 1 April 2014 
with information available in a range of formats, including printed leaflets in the Main 
Hall and webpages incorporating videos in British Sign Language. 
 
We also launched an ‘Instant Messaging’ service on the website which is currently 
operating during 9-5 office hours. 

2.7 Main Hall Improvements 

Given the frequent pressures on the facilities observed during busy periods over a 
number of years, highlighted in particular by the success of the Great Tapestry 
exhibition, the SPCB took the opportunity to enhance accessibility arrangements and 
increase the capacity of the public facilities in the Main Hall.     

The work included provision of a new accessible toilet adjacent to the shop which 
includes a ceiling track hoist system, adult sized changing bench and adequate 
space for two care assistants.  Work was also undertaken to remove the screen wall 
containing large doors that constituted a barrier for accessing the toilets, the shop 
and the exit, to improve circulation for all within the extended Main Hall.  

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/help/71175.aspx
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2.8 Members’ Room 

The SPCB agreed early on in the reporting year to the use of the Members’ Room as 
a commercial events venue on Fridays, weekends and during periods of recess for a 
pilot period.  Having agreed an initial period of 6 months running to March 2015, it 
was agreed to extend the pilot period a further 18 months in order to accommodate 
the longer lead in time usually required for the planning of major events.  Outcomes 
from this pilot will be reported in due course. 

2.9 Major Events and Exhibitions 
 
Events and exhibitions held either inside the building or in the landscaped area 
continued to be a key element of supporting engagement with the Parliament.  The 
SPCB is responsible for approving a programme of major events and exhibitions 
each year and managing the resources required to facilitate it.  Some of the 
highlights during this period included: 

Eclipse 

In March, the Parliament marked a major solar eclipse in partnership with the 
Astronomical Society of Edinburgh.  Members, local school children, members of the 
Holyrood community and Scottish Parliament staff took part in the event which 
included workshops for children, talks for adults, and a series of observation stations 
with telescopes (and suitable filters).  A plasma screen showing the live coverage of 
the total eclipse online was provided in the Main Hall for all visitors to observe.  Over 
300 people attended and watched the eclipse from the landscaped gardens. 

Scottishten 

As part of the 2014 Edinburgh International Culture Summit, the Parliament held the 
Scottishten exhibition which showcased heritage through an innovative project which 
used laser scanning technology to create 3D digital models of 10 heritage sites in 
Scotland and across the world.  

Ruth Nicol Artwork 

The SPCB agreed to the acquisition of a painting by Scottish artist Ruth Nicol 
entitled “Holyrood 2014, Robert Garioch.”  The painting depicts the Scottish 
Parliament building nestled between the Salisbury Crags and the city, from a 
vantage point of the Commonwealth War Graves cemetery off Regent Street.  This is 
the only painting in the collection to feature the Holyrood campus, and complements 
the existing photographs in the art collection. 

2.10 Scotland’s Futures Forum 
 
Scotland’s Futures Forum is constituted as a Company Limited by Guarantee. The 
Forum aims to help Members, along with policy makers, businesses, academics, and 
the wider community of Scotland, look beyond immediate horizons to some of the 
challenges and opportunities we will face in the future. The Scottish Parliamentary 
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Corporate Body is the sole “Member” and appoints a Board of Directors. This 
includes the Presiding Officer (Chair), Alex Johnstone MSP, Margaret McCulloch 
MSP and Michael Russell MSP. 
 
Highlights over the last year include:  
 

 A “Re-thinking Wellbeing” initiative that reported on different aspects of 
wellbeing and took forward design and measurement of effective public 
policies in a practical way. 

 A series of cutting edge events that were held in the Scottish Parliament to 
promote greater understanding of online and distance learning through 
Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs). Through a central MOOC directory 
on the Forum website, many free university courses are now available on an 
on-going basis to members, staff and the general public. 

 Enhanced Forum support for MSPs and Parliamentary Committees with 
contributions from high quality speakers at events, seminars and Committee 
Inquiries. 
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SECTION 3 – EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE PARLIAMENTARY SERVICE 
 
3.1 Scottish Parliamentary Service 
 
The SPCB reviews and agrees a Strategic Plan, Organisational Performance 
Framework (OPF) and risk register for the Scottish Parliamentary Service (SPS) on 
an annual basis. The Strategic Plan is published and we receive quarterly OPF 
reports from the Chief Executive (CE) on progress. These are also published as part 
of the regular CE Reports to the Corporate Body. The Q4 report is included as part 
of the Performance Overview and Performance Analysis sections. 
 
A copy of the organisation chart is available on the internet. 
 
3.2 Financial Resources 
 
The annual accounts for 2014-15 comply with the accounting principles and 
disclosure requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual. A summary 
of the expenditure compared to budget is set out below. 

SPCB Expenditure for the 12 Months Ended 31 March 2015 

  Actual 
£m 

Budget 
£m 

Variance 
£m 

Net Revenue Expenditure (Notes 1 & 2) 74.8 75.8 1.0 

        

Capital Expenditure (Note 3) 1.9 1.6 (0.3) 

        

Total Revenue and Capital Expenditure in 2014-
15, excluding capital charges  

76.7 77.4 0.7 

        

Capital Charges (Note 4) 13.0 13.3 0.3 

        

Total Expenditure in 2014-15, including capital 
charges  

89.7 90.7 1.0 

 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/46934.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/46934.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/46934.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/2015_06_02_Orgchart.pdf
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Notes 

Note 1: 

 

Net revenue expenditure of £74.8m in 2014-15 included parliamentary staff salaries 
of £24.1m and MSP salaries of £11.3m. Members' costs, which enable MSPs to 
secure staff and accommodation to assist them in the discharge of their 
parliamentary duties, were £12.5m including £0.5m on financial assistance for 
registered political parties. A further £8.1m was expended on funding the salaries 
and running costs of the Commissioners and Ombudsman. The remaining £18.8m 
relates to the administration and property running costs of the Parliament, including a 
£1.7m payment to the Electoral Commission in respect of the Referendum, and is 
net of £0.8m gross income from shop sales and events. 

Note 2: We continue to live within our budget. Our net revenue expenditure on staff, 
property and administration costs in 2014-15 was £74.8m, £1.0m less than the 
available budget. Of the £1.0m difference from budget, £0.1m represents lower 
funding requirements in the year for Commissioners and the Ombudsman, £1.1m 
lower take up of expenses to budget for members costs and the remaining variance 
of (£0.2m) relates to additional expenditure on Parliamentary Service costs.  

Note 3: Capital expenditure in 2014-15 of £1.9m comprised £1.0m on IT software, 
work in development and hardware with £0.9m on equipment.  

Note 4: Capital charges are required by the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
to reflect the depreciation in value of assets and other non-cash costs. The charge 
for depreciation for 2014-15 was £10.7m. Other non-cash items in 2014-15, 
amounting to £2.3m, include a net charge for pension finance and auditor’s 
remuneration. 
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3.3 Advisory Audit Board 
 
A key responsibility of the Advisory Audit Board (AAB) is the review and scrutiny of 
the SPCB’s annual accounts.  Following its work, the AAB recommends the 
accounts to the SPCB prior to the accounts being signed by the Principal 
Accountable Officer (the Clerk/Chief Executive). In addition to its work on the 
accounts, the AAB provides guidance and assurance to the Principal Accountable 
Officer and the SPCB on the effectiveness of corporate governance, risk 
management and internal controls by considering reports by the external auditors 
(Audit Scotland) and commenting on and, where necessary, informing the internal 
audit approach. 
 
The AAB met 3 times in the year ended 31 March 2015 and again on 1 April 2015 to 
provide guidance and assurance on the SPCB’s governance, risk management and 
internal control arrangements.  Following its August 2014 meeting, the AAB 
recommended that the SPCB formally approve the 2013/14 Annual Accounts. The 
AAB further recommended that the accounts and the governance statement be 
signed by the Principal Accountable Officer. 
 
Two of the three independent members of the AAB – Ian Robertson, Chair and Kevin 
Sweeney completed their terms of office on 30 September 2014.  George Thorley 
OBE and Isobel Sharp CBE were selected to join the Board which comprises Jean 
Couper CBE, who took over as Chair in September 2014, and two SPCB members, 
Linda Fabiani MSP and Liam McArthur MSP. 
 
3.4 Security 
 
At its meeting on 29 October 2014, the SPCB commissioned a high level review of 
the security arrangements at the Parliament estate.  This was conducted during 
November by representatives from the Security and Facilities Management Offices.   
 
3.5 Human Resources 
 
Living Wage 
 
In conjunction with The Scottish Living Wage Foundation Group we agreed to 
engage with our contractors to ensure that all contractor staff who are employed 
exclusively and directly to work at the Parliament are in receipt of the living wage.  
This was achieved in November.  
 
Apprenticeships 
 
Following the success of a pilot run in 2013/14 we took the decision to develop an 
apprenticeship programme that will be delivered over the next four years. The 
programme is aimed at 16-24 year olds, with apprentices recruited at two different 
entry points in 2015 and 2017.   
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For the 2015 programme we received over 400 applications from across Scotland.  
Due to the high standard of these applications, 13 apprentices were appointed to the 
2015 programme with the first arriving in April.  
 
Volunteering 
 
The SPCB supported twelve members of staff from across the Scottish 
Parliamentary Service who were successful in their applications to volunteer at the 
Commonwealth Games in Glasgow in 2014.  They fulfilled a variety of functions 
including spectator and sponsor services, HR support, anti-doping services and 
transport.  
 
3.6 Facilities Management 
 
A number of works projects were taken forward by the Facilities Management office 
over the period of this Report.  Improvements to the Main Hall area have already 
been referenced above.  Other projects included:  
 

 Installation of induction loops in Q1.01 and Q1.03;  

 Further development of digital meeting rooms. As part of the Digital 

Parliament Programme audio visual equipment was installed in meeting 

rooms including Q1:03 and TG.20/21 over the Easter recess;  

 Upgrading of Lift 2 in the MSP Building to an Evacuation Lift.  The benefit of 
this change is that people with Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans 
(PEEPs,) who would usually be directed to the nearest Refuge Point during an 
evacuation of the MSP Building, are now independently able to join their 
colleagues in the Garden Lobby.  It also means that Security staff will have an 
improved means of moving people from a Refuge Point in the MSP Building 
for further evacuation should that become necessary. 

 
3.7 Health and Fire Safety 
 
In accordance with the SPCB’s 3-year health and safety audit plan, audits of 
statutory inspections, x-ray baggage screening (follow up audit) and a management 
review of the H&S management system were completed. 
 
The Fire Safety Adviser and Health and Safety Adviser liaised with the Institution of 
Occupational Safety and Health to update the guidance booklet for MSPs, “Think 
about Health and Safety”. 
 
3.8 Equalities 
 
The past year has seen a continuation of the SPCB’s commitment and success in 
supporting equality at the Scottish Parliament.   

During the year, work was carried out with contractors working in the Parliament to 
encourage good practice in the delivery of their equality policies.  
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Notable projects in support of equality included: 
 

 Autism Access Award and champions: Visitor Services worked closely with 
other offices in the Parliament to achieve the Access Award from the National 
Autism Society.  Visitor Services staff undertook autism awareness training, 
with staff wearing “I am autism aware” badges on successful completion of 
the training.  Visitor Services will act as the first contact for visitors with autism 
who may require additional assistance or information when planning a visit to 
Parliament.  

 

 Inspiring Young Women: The Inspiring Young Women event in March 2015 
aimed to engage female school pupils in S4 to S6 and inspire young women 
to consider a range of life and career choices, including involvement in 
politics.  Students were selected from every local authority and the themes for 
the event were sexism, leadership, body image and confidence.  Schools 
were supported by staff from around the Parliament who volunteered to act as 
liaisons, and who visited the schools in advance of the event.  

 

 Main Hall Lighting:  Work was undertaken in February on an enhanced 
lighting scheme in the Main Hall. The new lighting significantly improves 
accessibility for visitors, in particular people with visual impairments, and 
creates a more inviting events space.  The lighting now provides a flexible 
lighting solution encompassing ambient, task and feature lighting which will 
enhance and improve the overall visitor experience to the Scottish Parliament.   

 
3.9 Freedom of Information 
 
The SPCB continued to support openness and accessibility by publishing as much 
information as possible. Between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 140 freedom of 
information requests were received and answered.  Five of these went to internal 
review, none of which were appealed to the Office of the Scottish Information 
Commissioner.  During this period all freedom of information requests were 
answered within the statutory timeframe. 
 

Three appeals were submitted to the Office of the Scottish Information 
Commissioner in relation to requests processed during the previous reporting year.  
Of these, the Commissioner found in favour of the SPCB on two occasions but did 
find that the SPCB had responded to one request outwith the statutory deadline. 
 

3.10 Operational Performance Report 2014-15 
 
The summary of operational performance for the final quarter of the year is included 
within Performance Overview. The following reports on performance against the 
strategic activities and priorities for change as well as an update on the strategic risk 
register process.  
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Agile response to 

constitutional change 

arising from the Smith 

Commission 

Harnessing increased 

public involvement in 

politics to build improved 

engagement in the work 

of the Parliament 

Priority

Organisational Performance Framework 

2014-15:  Quarter 4

Priorities for Change

Progress & Key Achievements Forward Look Status

 The Further Devolution Board (FDB) continued to expand upon 

the themes to strengthen parliamentary scrutiny; parliamentary 

engagement and parliamentary governance powers. 

 Following the publication of the UK Government Command 

paper “Scotland in the United Kingdom:  An enduring 

settlement” on 22 January 2015, the FDB has been in 

communication with the UK Government on the implications of 

the draft clauses relating to the Parliament.

 On 30 March 2015, the Presiding Officer (PO) gave a speech on 

The Scottish Parliament:  An Agenda for Reform to the David 

Hume Institute which included setting out a number of ideas on 

the future of parliamentary scrutiny under the new powers.

 Completed work on the new committees engagement strategy in 

January 2015. 

 The revised Public Engagement Strategy was agreed by the 

SPCB on 18 March 2015.

 During Q1 2015-16, the FDB will continue to 

build on its work under the three themes with 

further packages of work. 

 The FDB will continue to closely monitor 

developments at the UK Parliament after the 

general election on 7 May 2015. 

 During Q1 2015-16, work commenced on 

receiving cross party agreement by September 

2015 to approach to decoupling future Scottish 

and UK elections. The PO has written to the 

Secretary of State for Scotland to advise the 

Scottish Parliament will be making a request for 

a S30 Order after the general election on 7 

May 2015. 

 Implement agreed Committees Engagement 

Strategy from April 2015. 

 Agreement of action plan for Public 

Engagement Strategy, including revised KPIs 

to reflect new strategy by 30 June 2015. 

 Roll out SNIPPETs sessions on each of the 

priorities for change in the Public Engagement 

Strategy by 30 June 2015. 

G

G
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Exploiting digital ways of 

working to benefit 

Members, staff and the 

public

Priority

Organisational Performance Framework 

2014-15:  Quarter 4

Priorities for Change

Progress & Key Achievements Forward Look Status

 54 Member Interviews took place in March 2015 & 5 staff 

workshops held to inform the Digital Parliament Programme 

(DPP) Wave 3 planning day on 27 April 2015. 

 PwC completed programme health check with a small number 

of minor recommendations in January 2015. 

 Online Strategy final report accepted by the DPP Board on 10 

March 2015. 

 Second iteration of the MSP Portal launched on 31 March 2015, 

along with Motions & Questions mobile, now accessible from 

mobile devices. 

April-May 2015

 Open Data policy and approach approved by 

SPCB on 1 April 2015.

 Latest digital event held on 13 April 2015 as 

part of SPICe week. 

 Business Products Roadmap approved on 21 

April 2015. 

 Digital Meeting Facilities: Further rooms 

adapted during Easter recess (TG.24, TG20/

21, Q1.04) and technology upgrade to be 

completed by end May 2015. 

 Documents & Records Management almost 

rolled out to 50% of the organisation by 30 April 

2015.

 Members’ capability framework developed 

based on recent Members’ interviews. 

June 2015

 Strategic discussion at LG on Online 

Strategy. 

 Develop final year of programme delivery. 

 Further audit of programme controls as follow 

up to programme health check.

G
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Broadening the 

involvement of Members 

in a continuous 

professional development 

programme which 

promotes excellence

Successfully manage the 

transition to the fifth 

session of the Parliament 

ensuring it is well placed 

to excel

Priority

Organisational Performance Framework 

2014-15:  Quarter 4

Priorities for Change

Progress & Key Achievements Forward Look Status

 A working group has been established, including 

representatives from a number of offices, to develop a CPD 

programme for Members ahead of the 2016 election. 

 The programme will include both induction work for new 

members and development opportunities for all MSPs 

throughout Session 5.

 Planning and work for this priority for change will commence 

during Q1, 2015-16. 

 While research into Members needs was 

undertaken earlier in session 3, further work 

with MSPs will take place in Q1, 2015-16 to 

ensure that any programme meets Members 

needs.

 Following the UK General Election on 7 May 

2015, members of the working group will visit 

Westminster to see how the induction 

programme for new MPs is delivered.

 A member of the working group will also be 

part of the Election Planning board to ensure 

the MSP induction programme ties in with the 

wider transition to the fifth session of the 

Parliament.

 Senior Responsible Officer for this priority for 

change is to be appointed in May 2015. 

 Establish Election Planning Board by end of 

May 2015. 

G

G
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Work with Members to 

ensure our legislative 

processes deliver robust 

scrutiny and best meet 

future demands

Strategic review of future 

resource requirements to 

prioritise activities and to 

ensure continued value 

for money

Design and implement a 

staff development 

framework focussing on 

change, leadership, 

individual responsibility 

and accountability

Priority

Organisational Performance Framework 

2014-15:  Quarter 4

Priorities for Change

Progress & Key Achievements Forward Look Status

 Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments (SPPA) 

Committee’s inquiry into procedures for considering legislation 

published its report on Legislation and the Scottish Parliament 

on 20 March 2015. 

 Work on the Legislative Drafting, Amending and Publishing 

Programme continued to advance. In March 2015, Leadership 

Group (LG) agreed the final report for the first phase and agreed 

to continue to the procurement stage of the project. 

 Strategic Budget Group was established in 2014, with remit to 

review future resource requirements. 

 Draft high level timeline prepared.

 A project group with an Assistant Chief Executive as Senior 

Responsible Officer, was established in January 2015 to 

produce detailed plans for change. 

 Work to improve and streamline the staff appraisal system for 

2015-16 reporting year commenced by scoping out options for 

redesigning the system and investigating routes for online 

hosting to facilitate continuous dialogue throughout the year. 

Communication and engagement activity with staff is at the 

planning stage. 

 A formal response from the Scottish 

Government is expected by the end of May 

2015. Consideration of any Standing Orders 

changes will take place after summer 2015 

recess.

 Gateway review to decide on whether to 

proceed to the final phase of the project will be 

completed by end of June 2015. 

 Discussion with SPCB on timing options for 

addressing potential cost pressures in June 

2015. 

 UK Comprehensive Spending Review outcome 

in late Autumn 2015. 

 Approval of SPCB’s 2016-17 budget bid by 

October 2015.

 Produce an organisational development plan to 

identify and address challenges and to support 

the organisation (including required resources) 

to be discussed at LG in June 2015. 

 Work will continue on the staff appraisal system 

with an aim to roll out the new online route by 1 

September 2015 which may be an interim step 

in achieving the final solution. 

 Introduce a new learning and development 

system by June 2015. 

G

G

G
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Organisational Performance Framework 

2014-15:  Quarter 4

Strategic Risk Management  
 

Strategic Risk Register

 
 

As at 31 March 2015, the Strategic Risk Register identified 13 strategic risks which may act as 

barriers to the successful delivery of the Strategic Plan and our strategic goals and aims. Each risk 

has been scored in terms of likelihood and impact and is designated as high, medium or low both 

before (inherent risk) and after (residual risk) the application of the internal controls and 

management actions designed by LG to mitigate exposure to these risks.

Risk Scores at 31 March 2015

While no strategic risks were designated as high at 31 March 2015, one risk ("Parliamentary 

Service is unable to respond to changes in the Parliament's powers") was deemed to be high in the 

early part of 2014/15. However, the residual score for this risk has been reduced to medium 

following the successful implementation of the mitigating actions developed and implemented 

during the year.

Risk Tolerance at 31 March 2015

Following the publication of the updated Strategic Plan in October 2014, a full review and refresh of 

the Strategic Risk Register was performed by Leadership Group including a detailed exercise to 

agree and set risk tolerance levels for each strategic risk.

Each strategic risk has been compared to the tolerance levels that LG has set in order to assess the 

effectiveness of the internal controls and mitigating actions in place to manage each risk. At 31 

March 2015, one risk (Unavailability of Holyrood building & infrastructure for business) continued to 

exceed its tolerance level. While this risk is not currently assessed as being high, LG has agreed a 

very low tolerance level for this risk becoming a reality. Work is therefore ongoing to further manage 

this risk including identifying and developing the existing facilities, maintenance and security 

controls that are in in place to prevent the likelihood of this risk occurring. In addition, work 

continues to develop business continuity management arrangements to mitigate the impact of this 

risk should it become a reality.

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P E GRICE       Date: 9 September 2015 
Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE BODY  
 

I present the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body’s (SPCB’s) report and accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2015. 
 
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Direction by The Scottish 
Ministers given on 17 January 2006 in accordance with section 19(4) of the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 
As set out in The Scotland Act 1998, funding for the SPCB is payable out of the 
Scottish Consolidated Fund.  
 
The SPCB and Senior Managers 
 
The Members of the SPCB were:    Appointed  
 
Tricia Marwick MSP, Presiding Officer   10 May 11 
Linda Fabiani MSP      25 May 11 
Liam McArthur MSP      25 May 11 
John Pentland MSP      15 January 15 
Liz Smith MSP      19 March 14  

 
David Stewart MSP who served as a member of the SPCB from 25 May 2011 stood 
down on 9 January 2015 and was replaced by John Pentland MSP on 15 January 
2015.  
 
The SPCB has agreed portfolio arrangements whereby members take a lead interest 
in specific issues. During 2014-15 these were as follows: 
  
Linda Fabiani MSP – Facilities, events and exhibitions services 
 
Liam McArthur MSP – Finance and Officeholders 
 
John Pentland MSP – HR and Technology 
 
Liz Smith MSP – Business support, information and engagement strategy 
 
A Register of Members' Interests is published on the Parliament's website and any 
details for Leadership Group are available on request.  
 
Senior management, as at 31 March 2015, forming the Leadership Group employed 
by the SPCB, including Lynda Towers who was on secondment from the Scottish 
Government, during the 2014-15 financial year were: 
 
Paul Grice   Clerk to the Parliament/Chief Executive 
Stewart Gilfillan  Assistant Chief Executive 
Michelle Hegarty  Assistant Chief Executive 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/msps/register-of-interests.aspx
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Ken Hughes   Assistant Chief Executive 
Lynda Towers  Solicitor to the Parliament 
Alan Balharrie Head of Business Information Technology and 

Broadcasting 
Colin Chisholm   Head of Human Resources and Security  
Derek Croll    Head of Financial Resources 
Susan Duffy    Head of Committees and Outreach 
Jerry Headley  Head of Facilities Management, Events, Exhibitions and 

Visitor Services  
David McGill    Head of Chamber and Reporting 
Callum Thomson  Head of Communications and Research  
 

The Remuneration Report contains information about the salary and pension 
entitlements of the above named individuals. 
 
The Leadership Group currently constitutes the Clerk/Chief Executive, 2 permanent 
Assistant Chief Executives, 1 temporary Assistant Chief Executive, 7 Group Heads 
and the Solicitor to the Parliament.   
 
Stewart Gilfillan left the SPCB on 31 July 2015. Michelle Hegarty was appointed 
Assistant Chief Executive on a temporary basis from 17 March 2014 with specific 
responsibility for the Digital Parliament Programme. The role of Head of 
Communications and Research was filled by Callum Thomson from 17 March 2014, 
again on a temporary basis. Both these temporary roles were due to run to 31 July 
2015. Following an open and transparent recruitment process, subsequently both 
Michelle and Callum have been successful in being permanently appointed in their 
current roles from 1 August 2015.  
 
Following recruitment exercises, David McGill has been appointed to the position of 
Assistant Chief Executive (temporary) from 1 June 2015 to 31 July 2016 and Tracey 
White has been promoted on a temporary basis as Head of Chamber and Reporting 
from 15 June 2015 to 31 July 2016.  Lynda Towers returned to the Scottish 
Government on 1 August 2015 with Judith Morrison appointed as the Solicitor to the 
Scottish Parliament from 1 August 2015.  
 
Unless otherwise stated above, all senior staff hold their appointments on a 
permanent basis. 
 

Related parties 
 
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its 
financial statements. The listing of SPCB members above includes a reference to the 
Register of Members’ Interests which is published and further information is 
contained in the Notes to the Accounts (Note 19).   
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Pension Liabilities 
 
The SPCB uses full IAS 19 pension scheme accounting for the Members’ Pension 
Fund (Scottish Parliamentary Contributory Pension Fund). This means the net 
position for the scheme assets and liabilities is reflected in the SPCB Statement of 
Financial Position (Notes 3 & 13). The treatment of pension liabilities and details of 
the relevant pension schemes, including Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme 
(PCSPS) for staff, are set out in the statement of accounting policies (Note 1k and 
Note 3).  
 

Supplier Payment Policy 
 
The SPCB's policy is to comply with the Confederation of British Industry’s Prompt 
Payers Code. The target is for payment to be made within agreed payment terms or 
30 days of receipt of invoices not in dispute for goods and services received. 
Average payment performance achieved for 2014-15 was 99.6% (2013-14 99.6%). 
In 2008-09 a voluntary initiative was introduced to improve payment performance 
further. Under this initiative, introduced in SPCB in December 2008, we aim to make 
payment within 10 days of receipt of invoice to the supplier. In 2014-15 SPCB paid 
93.7% of its invoices within 10 days (87.8% of its invoices paid within 10 days for 
2013-14). 
 
Social and Community Issues 
 
The SPCB encourages public awareness and engagement with the parliamentary 
process. Since Her Majesty the Queen formally opened the Holyrood building on 9 
October 2004, over 3.75 million people have visited the Parliament, with 303,000 of 
those visiting during the financial year 2014-15.  
 
Environmental Performance 
 
The organisation’s achievements continue to reflect the SPCB’s commitment to 
demonstrating best practice in environmental performance and to act sustainably. 
We achieved a 30% reduction, from the baseline year of 2005/06, in the Parliament’s 
carbon emissions by March 2015 against a target of 32%.  This target was narrowly 
missed due to a refrigerant gas leak from our external chiller which provides cooling 
to the building.  However, with continued effort and investment in new technologies, 
the Parliament should be on course to achieve its ambitious target to reduce 
emissions by 42% by 2020 from 2005/06 levels. 
 
Improvements in our environmental performance have been achieved through the 
implementation of the Carbon Management Plan which was developed in 2013 and 
sets out a seven year programme of work and organisational change to reduce the 
SPCB’s carbon emissions.  The Carbon Management Plan is also supported by the 
RACE (Real Action on Carbon Emissions) programme.  The Parliament also 
continues to maintain an Environmental Management System certified to ISO 
14001:2004. 
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In June 2014 we located two Scottish bred honey bee colonies at the Parliament in 
an effort to increase public awareness of the plight of Scotland’s honey bee 
populations and in line with our policy to support biodiversity. 
 
Further information on environmental management at the Scottish Parliament can be 
found here: Environmental Management at the Scottish Parliament - Visit & Learn : 
 Scottish Parliament. 
 
Health and Safety 
 
The SPCB is committed to promoting health and safety as a priority issue. Its aim is 
to comply with, and where possible exceed, legal requirements and take appropriate 
and reasonable steps to ensure that it conducts its business in such a way that 
employees and other people who may be affected by its work are not exposed to 
risks to their health and safety. 
 
To deliver this policy, the SPCB has established a Fire, Health and Safety 
Committee; developed procedures necessary to form a robust Health and Safety 
management system; and has delivered a comprehensive training programme to 
enable all staff and other users of the Parliament accommodation to meet their 
Health and Safety responsibilities. 
 
Human Rights and Equality 
  
Equality is one of the Parliament’s four founding principles and is integral to how the 
SPCB supports its members; promotes good employment practices; and provides its 
services to the public. The SPCB’s Equalities Framework underpins this drive for 
equality and helps remove any barriers to participation or access to the Parliament 
particularly for groups who are protected by the Equality Act 2010. To demonstrate 
the SPCB’s achievements, an Equality Monitoring Report is published every year 
which shows the SPCB’s high level of commitment to advancing equality. The most 
recent report is published on the Scottish Parliament website.  
 
Key highlights this year: 
 

 The pilot project to provide Closed Captions on videos of First Minister’s 
Question Time was expanded to create a new captioning service including 
more Parliamentary proceedings and improving access for people who are 
deaf and hard of hearing; 

  

 The Apprenticeship Programme was extended to provide places for 20 young 
people over a four year period with two separate intakes in 2015 and 2017.  
The recruitment campaign has been shortlisted for a CIPD award for ‘Best 
Use of Social Media’. The recruitment campaign also directly targeted BME 
groups, who are under-represented in the Scottish Parliamentary Service; 

  

 The SPCB was awarded the National Autistic Society’s ‘Autism Access 
Award’ demonstrating that services and facilities meet the needs of people 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/visitandlearn/59138.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/visitandlearn/59138.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/32427.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/SPCB_FINAL_Equality_Monitoring_Report_2013-14.pdf
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with autism. Similarly, the ‘Louder than Words’ Charter Mark awarded by 
Action on Hearing Loss was achieved for the SPCB’s improvements to the 
services provided to people who are deaf and hard of hearing. 

 
Staff Communications 

 
Staff communications in 2014-15 were primarily focused on improving internal 
communications. This led to the drafting of a proposed new internal communications 
strategy and developing an electronic staff newsletter. In addition: 

 

 The Clerk/Chief Executive used his messages to staff to engage on topics like 
the Referendum and the Digital Parliament project, and held an all-staff 
meeting following the Referendum result to discuss the impact on the 
Parliament; 

 

 Monthly drop-ins were held with members of Leadership Group, to which staff 
from throughout the organisation could drop in and discuss issues or 
questions in an informal setting; and 

 

 Regular briefings on the outcomes from Leadership Group meetings were 
provided by Group Heads to all staff. Additionally, all staff have web access to 
the minutes of SPCB and Leadership Group meetings. 

 
 

Important Events Occurring After Year End 
 
No important events have occurred since the year end that require disclosure or 
adjustment under the terms of IAS 10, Events after the Statement of Financial 
Position Date. In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, Events after the 
Statement of Financial Position date are considered up to the date on which the 
accounts are authorised for issue. This is interpreted as the date on which the 
Independent Auditor’s Report is signed. 
 
External Audit 
 
The Accounts are audited by the Auditor General for Scotland in accordance with the 
Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. Audit Scotland carry out this 
work on behalf of the Auditor General for Scotland in accordance with the Code of 
Audit Practice. 2014-15 is year four of a five year audit appointment. The audit costs 
for 2014-15 were £66,880 (2013-14 £65,810). 
 
Disclosure of Relevant Audit Information 
 
As Principal Accountable Officer, I have taken all necessary steps to ensure that I 
am aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are also 
aware of this information. 
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Advisory Audit Board (AAB) 
 
The SPCB’s Advisory Audit Board supports the Principal Accountable Officer in 
monitoring and reviewing corporate governance, risk management and control 
systems. Membership of the AAB comprises three independent external members to 
help ensure objectivity, one of whom has the role of Chair, and two members from 
the SPCB. Two new independent members, Isobel Sharp CBE and George Thorley 
OBE were appointed on 1 June 2014 to replace Ian Robertson and Kevin Sweeney 
who stood down at 30 September 2014.  Jean Couper took over as Chair from that 
date. Members during the year to 31 March 2015 were: 
 
Jean Couper CBE (appointed 1 March 2012, Chair from 30 September 2014)  
Ian Robertson CA, CCMI (appointed 5 September 2007 to 30 September 2014, 
Chair from 1 July 2009 to 30 September 2014) 
Kevin Sweeney MA, LLB, CA (appointed 1 November 2008 to 30 September 2014) 
Isobel Sharp CBE (appointed 1 June 2014) 
George Thorley OBE (appointed 1 June 2014) 
Linda Fabiani MSP (appointed 29 June 2011) 
Liam McArthur MSP (appointed 29 June 2011) 
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STATEMENT OF THE SPCB’S AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

The Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive is, by virtue of his appointment, 
Principal Accountable Officer for the SPCB. The responsibilities of the Principal 
Accountable Officer, including the responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the 
public finances for which the SPCB is answerable, for keeping of proper records and 
for safeguarding the SPCB’s assets, are set out in section 16 of the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 
The Principal Accountable Officer has prepared a statement of accounts in the form 
and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction issued by Scottish Ministers. The 
accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and give a true and fair view of the 
SPCB's state of affairs and of its net resource outturn, application of resources, 
changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts the Principal Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in 
particular to: 
 

 Observe the accounts direction issued by Scottish Ministers including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts; and 

 Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis. 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  
 

Scope of Responsibility 
 
As Principal Accountable Officer, I am responsible for maintaining a sound system of 
corporate governance that supports the achievement of the policies, aims and 
objectives of the Scottish Parliament, whilst safeguarding the public funds and 
assets for which I am responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to 
me. 
 
This includes ensuring that arrangements for delegation are robust and promote 
good management, supported by staff with an appropriate balance of skills and 
experience. Appropriate management systems and procedures are also essential to 
support service delivery. 

I am answerable to the Scottish Parliament for the exercise of these responsibilities. 

Governance Framework 
 
The Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body (SPCB) 
 
The SPCB is the legal entity of the Scottish Parliament as provided for by the 
Scotland Act 1998 (as amended). The SPCB provides the property, staff and 
services that are required for the Parliament’s purpose and performs any further 
functions that are enacted. The SPCB is elected by the Scottish Parliament in 
accordance with standing orders and comprises the Presiding Officer and 4 other 
members. The SPCB typically meets fortnightly while the Parliament is in session. 
Meetings are attended by the Clerk/Chief Executive and senior officials.  

The SPCB has formally authorised the Clerk/Chief Executive to carry out most of the 
day to day functions of the SPCB. 
 
The Leadership Group (LG) 

The role of LG is to support and advise the Clerk/Chief Executive in defining and 
delivering the aim and values of the organisation and its strategic priorities; 
developing the strategy to achieve these; and acting as a collective champion for 
them. 

LG advises the SPCB, via the Clerk/Chief Executive, on budget and staffing levels 
which go forward to the SPCB for consideration and approval. LG further ensures 
that appropriate management systems are in place and are operating effectively to 
ensure compliance with statutory and regulatory duties, including promoting good 
practice in equalities, environmental management and other corporate policies to 
ensure effective governance across the organisation. 

Members of LG are the Clerk/Chief Executive (Chair), Assistant Chief Executives, 
the Solicitor to the Scottish Parliament and Group Heads. LG meets at least monthly 
while the Parliament is in session.  
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Advisory Audit Board (AAB) 

The AAB considers all matters of governance, audit and internal control in place for 
the SPCB. In particular, the AAB advises the Principal Accountable Officer on 
whether the necessary assurances required for signing the Governance Statement 
have been received. The AAB specifically considers the adequacy of the 
arrangements for ensuring sound governance and internal control; the assessment 
and management of risk; the planned activity of internal audit and results of its 
work; the planned activity of Audit Scotland and results of its work; and the adequacy 
of management responses to audit issues. The AAB meets quarterly and currently 
comprises two members of the SPCB and three independent persons, one of whom 
is chair. Independent persons are appointed based on their expertise and experience 
in governance, audit and public services. Current membership can be found at page 
36. 
 
The AAB reports to the SPCB annually and at such other times as it considers 
necessary. Representatives of the AAB also join LG meetings on occasion and 
advise on significant matters as they arise. 
 
Internal Audit 
 
The objective of internal audit is to provide independent assurance on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of systems of governance and internal controls, financial, 
management and others, which have been established to manage the risks of the 
organisation, to enable the achievement of organisational goals and ensure 
accountability for public funds. 
 
External Audit 
 
The Auditor General for Scotland is responsible for auditing the SPCB’s accounts. 
External audit have not identified any major weaknesses this year or in the previous 
three years of their appointment cycle. 
 
Assessment of Corporate Governance 
 
As Principal Accountable Officer, my assessment is that the corporate governance 
arrangements comply with generally accepted best practice principles and relevant 
guidance. In particular, the following processes and institutional arrangements have 
been established: 
 

 Strategic Plan 

The SPCB has approved a strategic plan for 2013-16. This is supplemented 
by an Organisational Performance Framework (OPF), which underpins the 
strategic plan and links it with performance measurement and risk 
management; 
 
Each of the individual plans and strategies within the Strategic Plan 2013-16 
has been assigned to individual Leadership Group members who have 
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delegated responsibility for appropriate governance arrangements. The 
successful delivery of the plans and strategies is monitored quarterly by the 
SPCB within the scope of the OPF; 
 

 Performance Measurement 

Fundamental to the successful achievement of the OPF and sound 
governance is the measurement and monitoring of performance. The 
approach takes account of feedback from members of the Scottish Parliament 
and reports progress against the plans and strategies within the strategic plan 
and portfolio. Performance measurement within the OPF also reports 
compliance in respect of Health and Safety; Fire Safety; Environment; 
Equalities and Freedom of Information. A reporting mechanism is in place and 
the measurement periods are quarterly with performance being reported 
shortly thereafter; 
 

 Internal Control Environment 

Systems of internal control assurance are designed to identify the principal 
risks to the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The SPCB’s 
assurance arrangements have been designed to manage risk to a reasonable 
level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve the organisation’s 
policies, aims and objectives. Risk management can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. These arrangements have been 
in place in the SPCB for the year ended 31 March 2015 and up to the date of 
approval of the annual accounts. These accord with the guidance set out in 
the Scottish Public Finance Manual (SPFM). Risks and internal controls are 
routinely reviewed by management and are tested as part of the rolling 
internal audit programme. There were no significant internal control or risk 
management breaches identified during 2014-15; 
 

 Advisory Audit Board 

The AAB met 3 times in the year ended 31 March 2015 and again on 1 April 
2015 to consider 2014/15 business. The AAB provided guidance to the SPCB 
on its governance, risk management and internal control arrangements. The 
AAB sought and received assurance from management, the Head of Internal 
Audit and external auditors. The AAB reviewed and approved the external and 
internal audit plans for 2014-15 and received regular reports on the progress 
of those plans from Audit Scotland and the Head of Internal Audit. There were 
no significant control issues identified during the AAB’s work; 
 

 Internal Audit 

An internal audit plan was prepared for 2014-15 and detailed reports on the 
findings from individual audit assignments, together with recommendations for 
control enhancement were prepared. Formal follow up of audit 
recommendations was in place throughout the year thus ensuring that agreed 
audit recommendations were implemented appropriately; 
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The overall conclusion from the work of internal audit for the year to 31 March 
2015 is that a substantial level of assurance may be taken from the areas 
reviewed within the annual internal audit plan. Regular reports are presented 
to the AAB and the Leadership Group by the Head of Internal Audit as an 
independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of 
internal control together with any recommendations to enhance 
arrangements; 
 

 External Audit 

The Auditor General has appointed Audit Scotland to undertake the statutory 
audit of the SPCB and further assurance on the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control is received by the work of Audit Scotland through their 
management letters and reports; 

 

 General 

- Regular reports from managers on the steps they are taking to manage 
risks in their areas of responsibility including progress reports on key 
projects; 

 
- A policy on fraud prevention and whistle blowing, and guidance; 

 
- The SPCB complies with the principles of the Scottish Public Finance 

Manual; 
 

- The SPCB has a dedicated set of Standing Financial Instructions “based 
on the Scottish Public Finance Manual” which contain financial policies 
and procedures that are specific to the SPCB; 

 
- The AAB reviews and recommends the accounts for approval including the 

Governance Statement; and 
 
- The SPCB approves the accounts including the Governance Statement. 

 
 

Assessment of Risk Management Arrangements 
 
As Principal Accountable Officer, my assessment is that the SPCB’s risk 
management arrangements comply with generally accepted best practice principles 
and relevant guidance. In particular, the following processes and institutional 
arrangements have been established during the year: 
 

 Management of risk forms a key part of the SPCB’s strategic and operational 
planning and is monitored and reported by way of the Organisational 
Performance Framework (OPF). The OPF brings together strategic planning 
and monitoring, operational and strategic risk management and high level 
performance indicators which are designed as a tool for decision making and 
resource allocation. Within the overarching context of the OPF, risks for the 
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SPCB are derived from, and link directly to, the strategic plan, individual office 
plans, the strategic portfolio and other major projects; 

 Strategic risk management arrangements were considered in detail by the 
Leadership Group in May 2014, August 2014 and March 2015; 

 Following the publication of the updated Strategic Plan in October 2014, a full 
review and refresh of the existing Strategic Risk Register was performed by 
Leadership Group including a detailed exercise to agree and set risk tolerance 
levels for each strategic risk. 

 The refreshed Strategic Risk Register continues to identify the risks which 
may act as barriers to the successful delivery of the Strategic Plan and our 
strategic goals and aims. Each risk is scored in terms of likelihood and impact 
both before and after the application of the internal controls and management 
actions designed by Leadership Group to mitigate exposure to these risks. No 
residual risks were identified as high at 31 March 2015. 

 At 31 March 2014 the risk that the “Parliamentary Service is unable to 
respond to changes in the Parliament’s powers” was deemed to be high. 
However the residual score for this risk has been reduced to medium 
following the detailed impact and preparedness work of the Referendum 
Planning Group in the first half of 2014/15. Following the outcome of the 
Referendum in September 2014, work to mitigate this risk is being taken 
forward by the Further Devolution Board which oversees all matters in respect 
of additional powers for the Scottish Parliament. 

 

 Each strategic risk has been compared to an agreed level of tolerance that 
Leadership Group has set in order to assess the effectiveness of the internal 
controls and mitigating actions in place. Existing management arrangements 
are being reviewed to mitigate further the risk of “Unavailability of Holyrood 
building & infrastructure for business” as although this risk is not currently 
assessed as being high, Leadership Group has agreed a very low tolerance 
level for this risk becoming a reality. Work to identify and develop the existing 
arrangements designed to reduce the likelihood of this risk becoming a reality 
is ongoing together with additional enhancements to our business continuity 
management planning arrangements which are designed to reduce the impact 
of this risk should it become a reality.  

 The principles of risk management and operational risk registers are used at 
office level as a key component of planning arrangements across the 
parliamentary service; and 

 The risk register is used routinely by internal audit to ensure that audit activity 
focuses on the key risks that affect the Scottish Parliament.   
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Assurances and Written Authorities 
 
Group Heads and the Solicitor to the Scottish Parliament each sign a Certificate of 
Assurance for their areas of responsibility and accountability. These offer assurance 
on internal controls in respect of risk management, business planning, project 
management, financial management, fraud, procurement, human resources, equality 
and diversity and health and safety for their respective group or office. Confirmation 
for 2014-15, that controls have been, and are, working well within groups and offices, 
has been received and there were no significant matters arising. 
 
The SPCB is responsible for funding a number of Commissioner and Ombudsman 
bodies. These bodies were created by Acts of the Scottish Parliament and operate 
independently from the SPCB. As Principal Accountable Officer, I rely on the 
Accountable Officer for each of these bodies to be responsible for ensuring that an 
effective system of internal control is maintained and operated to safeguard the 
public funds and assets for which they are responsible. Each Officeholder has 
provided a written assurance of this for 2014-15. 
 
Personal Data Related Incidents 
 
There have been no personal data related incidents during 2014-15. 
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REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT  
 

Remuneration policy 
 
The remuneration for the Clerk/Chief Executive and the Assistant Chief Executives is 
set by the SPCB taking into account their roles and responsibilities.  
 

Under a resolution of the Scottish Parliament MSPs salaries were set at 87.5% of the 
level determined for MPs at Westminster. In 2014-15 this equated to a salary 
excluding Employers National Insurance and pension contributions of £58,678 
(2013-14 £58,097), equivalent to a 1% increase. The SPCB decided in October 2013 
to recommend to the Parliament that the current link with MPs pay should be broken 
and that, in future, MSPs pay should be directly linked to pay increases for public 
sector employees in Scotland. This decision was implemented by a resolution of the 
Scottish Parliament on 17 March 2015 and came into effect from 1 April 2015. 
Pension benefits for MSPs and Office Holders are payable from the Scottish 
Parliamentary Contributory Pension Fund (SPCPF), and separate annual accounts 
are published for this on the Scottish Parliament website.  
 
The SPCB comprises 4 MSPs and the Presiding Officer. The MSPs are elected by 
the Parliament and the Presiding Officer has membership in accordance with the 
Scotland Act. The SPCB members receive no additional remuneration for this role. 
Similarly, MSPs serving as Conveners to Parliamentary Committees do not receive 
any additional remuneration. The Presiding Officer and two Deputy Presiding 
Officers receive additional salary for delivery of their roles.  
 
In respect of Ministers in the Scottish Government, the salary for their services as an 
MSP along with the supplementary element for ministerial appointment, are both 
paid by the SPCB. Disclosure on the ministerial element of salary and pension 
entitlements is contained within the Scottish Government Consolidated Accounts 
which can be accessed at The Scottish Government. These also include disclosure 
details on the two Law Officer appointments within Scotland (the Lord Advocate and 
the Solicitor General for Scotland). 
 
Under the various statutes establishing the offices of Commissioners and 
Ombudsmen (and the Auditor General for Scotland) the SPCB is responsible for 
determining the salaries of each officeholder.  Details of the salaries of each 
officeholder are available in their own accounts. Salaries for these officeholders are 
uprated on an annual basis in line with the Review Board recommendations for the 
senior civil service annual pay award. 
 

Service contracts 
 
Appointments of SPCB staff, on terms and conditions set by the SPCB, are made in 
accordance with SPCB recruitment policy which requires appointment to be on merit 
on the basis of fair and open competition but also includes the circumstances when 
appointments may otherwise be made. These principles are set out in our 
recruitment process and more information is available on the SPCB website 
recruitment pages.  

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/15027.aspx
http://www.gov.scot/
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/12442.aspx


Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body Annual Report and Accounts 2014-15 
Accountability Report 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

45 

 

 
SPCB staff are not classified as civil servants but pension benefits are provided 
through the Civil Service Pension Scheme Arrangements. 
 
Any recommendation for the reappointment of an individual to an office, where it is 
provided for by an enactment, is for the SPCB to recommend to the Parliament in 
accordance with Rule 3A.1 of Standing Orders. During this reporting year, the SPCB 
reappointed Matt Smith as a member of the Scottish Commission for Human Rights 
for a 3-year term from 1 September 2014 to 31 August 2017.  With the agreement of 
the Parliament, the SPCB also reappointed Mrs Julie Ward as a member of the 
Standards Commission for Scotland for a 3 year term from 18 January 2015 to 17 
January 2018.   
 
The SPCB undertook an open recruitment exercise to appoint two new members to 
the Scottish Commission for Human Rights to replace the outgoing members 
Professor Kay Hampton and Ms Shelagh McCall who demitted office on 30 April 
2015. The SPCB appointed Ms Susan Kemp and Dr Alan Mitchell for a single term of 
6 years from 1 May 2015 to 30 April 2021. 
 
Remuneration (salary and pensions) (Audited) 
 
The following sections provide details of the remuneration and pension interests of 
senior staff and office holders. Those for senior staff are presented in banding 
ranges for salary and pension. Information for Officeholders is presented on actual 
salary figures and total remuneration to the nearest £1,000. Pension benefits 
represent the present value of future pension benefits accrued during the year. This 
data has been provided by My Civil Service Pension and validated by them. Values 
in 2014-15 are generally higher than 2013-14 due to the general pay award of 2% 
(2013-14 1%) although employee contribution rates also increased. Where there are 
large movements in the pension benefits this is usually associated with the impact of 
individual salary increases, the scheme that the individual belongs to and any 
individual contributions made by the employee. Further information on all the 
schemes is available on the civil service website in the scheme booklets. The 
information in this section of the Remuneration Report covering salary and pension 
entitlements is audited. 
 

http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/pensions/scheme-guides&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=-tPDU-HfB4jy7AaxooGgCw&ved=0CBUQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNGi6HdbRcctFIUKD1l7w413NTDIlg
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Single total figure of remuneration 
 

Name and title Salary (£’000)  Pension benefits 
(£’000)* 

Total (£’000) 

 2014-15 2013-14 2014-15 2013-14 2014-15 2013-14 

SPCB senior staff 

Paul Grice 
Clerk to the 
Parliament and Chief 
Executive 

125-130 120-125 46 1 170-175 120-125 

Stewart Gilfillan 
Assistant Chief 
Executive 

100-105 100-105 45 7 145-150 105-110 

Michelle 
Hegarty3Assistant 
Chief Executive 

80-85 70-75 23 16 105-110 90-95 

Ken Hughes1 
Assistant Chief 
Executive 

95-100 80-85 100 32 195-200 110-115 

Lynda Towers 
Solicitor to the 
Scottish Parliament 

100-105 100-105 30 8 130-135 110-115 

Alan Balharrie 
Head of BIT and 
Broadcasting 

75-80 70-75 6 8 80-85 80-85 

Colin Chisholm 
Head of HR and 
Security 

75-80 70-75 30 27 105-110 95-100 

Derek Croll  
Head of Financial 
Resources 

75-80 70-75 19 12 90-95 85-90 

Susan Duffy2 Head 
of Committees and 
Outreach 

65-70 60-65 41 11 105-110 75-80 

Jerry Headley 
Head of Facilities, 
Events, and  Visitor 
Services 

75-80 70-75 22 19 95-100 90-95 

David McGill 
Head of Chamber 
and Reporting 

75-80 70-75 32 25 105-110 95-100 

Callum Thomson4 
Head of 

65-70 60-65 (1) 1 60-65 60-65 

                                                 
*
 The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension 
multiplied by 20 less the contributions made by the individual. The real increase excludes increases 
due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. Changes to the 
balance for 2013-14 or negative results arise from retrospective updates to salary data by MyCSP. 
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Communications and 
Research 

 

Scottish Parliament office holders 

 Salary (£) Benefits in kind 
(to nearest 
£100) 

Pension 
benefits (to 
nearest 
£1,000)* 

Total (to nearest 
£1,000) 

 2014-
15 

2013-
14 

2014-
15 

2013-
14 

2014-
15 

2013-
14 

2014-
15 

2013-
14 

Tricia 
Marwick 
Presiding 
Officer 
 

44,097 43,660 22,200 12,900 17,000 17,000 83,000 74,000 

John 
Scott 
Deputy 
Presiding 
Officer 
 

27,622 27,348 0 0 11,000 10,000 38,000 37,000 

Elaine 
Smith 
Deputy 
Presiding 
Officer 
 

27,622 27,348 0 0 11,000 10,000 38,000 37,000 

 

 
1 Ken Hughes acted as Assistant Chief Executive from 7 May 2012 until 15 
September 2013 – substantive post was Head of Committees and Outreach. 
Ken covered both posts in the period 19 August 2013 to 15 September 2013. 
He was appointed as Assistant Chief Executive permanently on 17 March 
2014. The full time equivalent salary of his post for 2013-14 was in the 
banding £95,000-£100,000. 
 
2 Susan Duffy acted as Head of Committees and Outreach from 16 May 2012 
until 18 August 2013.  She was permanently appointed as Head of Committee 
and Outreach on 17 March 2014. The full time equivalent salary of her post for 
2013-14 was in the banding £60,000-£65,000. 
 
3 Michelle Hegarty was appointed a temporary Assistant Chief Executive with 
specific responsibility for Digital Parliament on 17 March 2014 running initially 
until 31 July 2015. Prior to her role in Digital Parliament, Michelle was Head of 
Communications and Research. The full time equivalent salary of her post for 
2013-14 was in the banding £75,000-£80,000. 
 
4 Callum Thomson was appointed as temporary Head of Communications and 
Research from 17 March 2014 initially until 31 July 2015. The full time 
equivalent salary of his post for 2013-14 was in the banding £60,000-£65,000. 
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Pension benefit disclosed for 2013-14 relates to the period as a senior 
manager.  

 
 Details of pensions and cash equivalent transfer values are disclosed based 

on information supplied by My Civil Service Pension for SPCB senior staff and 
by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency for Scottish Parliament office holders. 
 
 

Compensation for loss of office 
 
Stewart Gilfillan left the SPCB on 31 July 2015 under voluntary terms agreed and the 
cost is reflected within the 2014-15 accounts. He received a compensation payment 
of £52,366.50. 
 
 
Median staff pay multiple 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the salary of the 
highest paid senior member of staff in their organisation and the median salary of the 
organisation’s workforce. The banded salary of the Clerk to the Parliament and Chief 
Executive in the financial year was £125,000-£130,000 (2013-14 £120,000-
£125,000). The mid-point of the salary band was 4.19 times the median salary of the 
workforce, which was £30,223 (2013-14 4.13 times, £29,640). There was a 2% pay 
increase for all staff from 1 April 2014. There were no staff salaries in excess of the 
Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive.  
 

Salary 
 
Salaries in the above table are the amount earned in the financial year and include, 
where applicable, reserved rights, recruitment and retention allowances. They do not 
include National Insurance or Superannuation contributions. There are no 
performance bonuses as the scheme for payment of these ended in 2005-06. Salary 
disclosed in the table above for Scottish Parliament office holders excludes the MSP 
element and relates solely to the office. 
 

Benefits in kind 
 
No benefits in kind were paid to SPCB senior staff in 2014-15 or 2013-14.  
 
Following a major illness, the SPCB provided the Presiding Officer with temporary 
rented accommodation in Edinburgh in October 2013 to enable her to continue to 
undertake her duties as Presiding Officer of the Scottish Parliament.  
 
The cost to the SPCB of £13,163 (2013-14 £7,644) was met from the 
Reimbursement of Members’ Expenses Scheme disability provision and effectively 
and comparably replaced the provision for reimbursement of the cost of overnight 
accommodation in Edinburgh, to which the Presiding Officer would otherwise have 
been entitled under the Scheme. 
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Unlike overnight accommodation assistance the costs in the above table are now 
treated by HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable emolument chargeable to tax 
under s163 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988, which creates a 
personal tax liability on the benefit in kind arising from those above accommodation 
costs.  
 

The net personal tax liability to be reimbursed to the Presiding Officer amounts to 
£5,272 (2013-14 £3,058) with the gross tax cost to the SPCB, which forms part of 
the benefit in kind, of reimbursing her in respect of this arrangement amounting in 
total to £9,078 (2013-14 £5,272). 
 
Office holders 
 
In respect of office holders, the salary shown is that for the appointment itself 
together with related pension. Scottish Ministers’ disclosure is contained within the 
Scottish Government’s accounts.  The Presiding Officer’s and the Deputy Presiding 
Officers’ pension benefits are paid from the SPCPF.  Their pensions accrue at the 
rate of either 1/40th or 1/50th of their final office holder pensionable earnings for each 
year that the office is held. There is no automatic lump sum but these office holders 
may commute some of their pension to provide a lump sum. 
 
Pension Benefits 
 

Name and title Total 
accrued 
pension at 
pension age 
and related 
lump sum at 
31/3/15 

Real 
increase in 
pension and 
related lump 
sum at 
pension age 

CETV at 
31/3/15 
 

CETV at 
31/3/14 
 

Real 
increase 
in CETV 
as funded 
by 
employer 

SPCB senior staff 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Paul Grice 
Clerk to the 
Parliament and 
Chief Executive 

45-50  
Plus lump 
sum of 140-
145 

0-2.5  
Plus lump 
sum of 5-7.5 

886 807 36 
 

Stewart Gilfillan 
Assistant Chief 
Executive 

55-60 
Plus lump 
sum of 95-
100 

2.5-5 
Plus lump 
sum of 0-2.5 

1,134 1,040 41 

Michelle Hegarty 
Assistant Chief 
Executive 

10-15 0-2.5 188 160 14 
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Ken Hughes 
Assistant Chief 
Executive 

45-50 
Plus lump 
sum of 145-
150 

2.5-5 
Plus lump 
sum of 12.5-
15 

998 866 88 

Lynda Towers 
Solicitor to the 
Scottish 
Parliament 

40-45 
Plus lump 
sum of 125-
130  

0-2.5  
Plus lump 
sum of 2.5-5 

907 836 28 

Alan Balharrie 
Head of BIT and 
Broadcasting 

10-15 
Plus lump 
sum of 40-
45 

0-2.5 
Plus lump 
sum of 0-2.5 

213 197 2 

Colin Chisholm 
Head of HR and 
Security 

10-15 0-2.5 174 137 17 

Derek Croll  
Head of Financial 
Resources 

10-15 
Plus lump 
sum of 40-
45 

0-2.5 
Plus lump 
sum of 2.5-5 

286 253 17 

Susan Duffy 
Head of 
Committees and 
Outreach 

15-20 
Plus lump 
sum of 50-
55 

0-2.5 
Plus lump 
sum of 5-7.5 

273 229 27 

Jerry Headley 
Head of Facilities, 
Events, and  
Visitor Services 

15-20 0-2.5 293 259 16 

David McGill 
Head of Chamber 
and Reporting 

20-25 
Plus lump 
sum of 70-
75 

0-2.5 
Plus lump 
sum of 2.5-5 

383 342 21 

Callum Thomson  
Head of 
Communications 
and Research 

15-20 0-2.5 212 200 (3)† 

      

Scottish Parliament office holders 

 Total 
accrued 
pension at 
age 65 as at 
31/3/15 

Real 
increase in 
pension at 
age 65 

CETV at 
31/3/15 
 

CETV at 
31/3/14 
 

Real 
increase 
in CETV  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Tricia Marwick 
Presiding Officer 

0-5 0-2.5 74 53 16 

                                                 
†
 Retrospective update to salary data by MyCSP is resulting in a negative result. 



Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body Annual Report and Accounts 2014-15 
Accountability Report 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

51 

 

 

John Scott 
Deputy Presiding 
Officer 
 

0-5 0-2.5 49 35 10 

Elaine Smith 
Deputy Presiding 
Officer 
 

0-5 0-2.5 35 25 7 

 
 

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised 
value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in 
time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any spouse’s or 
civil partner’s pension contingently payable depending on the scheme. A CETV is 
the amount payable by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits 
in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of 
their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior 
capacity to which the disclosure applies. The figures include the value of any 
pension benefit in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the Civil Service pension arrangements. They also include any 
additional pension benefit accrued to the scheme member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. 
CETVs are worked out within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the 
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries and do not take account of any actual or potential 
reduction to benefits resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which may be due when 
pension benefits are taken. 
 
Real Increase in CETV  
 
CETV movement may comprise of a number of components such as the age of the 
individual, inflation, contributions by the employer and the employee, and 
performance of the fund where relevant. The real increase in CETV reflects the 
increase effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the 
value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and 
uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.  
 
Pensions 
 
Pension benefits for SPCB employees are provided through the Civil Service 
pension arrangements. SPCB employees have access to one of four defined benefit 
schemes; either a ‘final salary’ scheme (Classic, Premium or Classic Plus); or from 
30 July 2007 a ‘whole career’ scheme (Nuvos). These statutory arrangements are 
unfunded with the costs of benefits met by monies voted by the UK Parliament each 
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year. Pensions payable under Classic, Premium, Classic Plus and Nuvos are 
increased annually in line with changes in Pensions Increase legislation. Members 
joining from October 2002 may opt for either the appropriate defined benefit 
arrangement or a ‘money purchase’ stakeholder pension with an employer 
contribution (partnership pension account).  
 
The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme is an unfunded multi-employer defined 
benefit scheme and the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body is unable to identify 
its share of the underlying assets and liabilities and therefore there is no liability in 
the Statement of Financial Position. Details can be found in the resource accounts of 
the Cabinet Office: Civil Superannuation (Cabinet Office: civil superannuation 
accounts). For 2014-15, employer contributions are at one of the four rates in the 
range 16.7% to 24.3% of pensionable pay which remains unchanged from 2013-14, 
however, some of the salary bands on which these were based were revised. The 
scheme’s Actuary usually reviews employer contributions every four years following 
a full scheme valuation. The contribution rates are set to meet the cost of the 
benefits accruing during 2014-15 to be paid when the member retires, and not the 
benefits paid during this period to existing pensioners. 
 
Employee contributions are set at a rate between 1.5% and 6.85% of pensionable 
earnings for Classic and between 3.5% and 8.85% for Premium, Classic Plus and 
Nuvos. Benefits in Classic accrue at the rate of 1/80th of the pensionable salary for 
each year of service. In addition, a lump sum equivalent to three years’ pension is 
payable on retirement. For Premium, benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of final 
pensionable earnings for each year of service. Unlike Classic, there is no automatic 
lump sum, but members may commute some of their pension to provide a lump sum. 
Classic Plus is essentially a hybrid with benefits in respect of service before 1 
October 2002 calculated broadly as per Classic and benefits for service from 
October 2002 calculated as in Premium. In Nuvos a member builds up a pension 
based on pensionable earnings during their period of scheme membership. At the 
end of the scheme year (31 March) the member’s earned pension account is 
credited with 2.3% of their pensionable earnings in that scheme year and the 
accrued pension is uprated in line with Pensions Increase legislation. In all cases 
members may opt to give up (commute) pension for lump sum up to the limits set by 
the Finance Act 2004. 
 
The partnership pension account is a stakeholder pension arrangement. The 
employer makes a basic contribution of between 3 and 12.5% (depending on the age 
of the member) into a stakeholder pension product chosen by the employee. The 
employee does not have to contribute but where they do make contributions, the 
employer will match these up to a limit of 3% of pensionable salary (in addition to the 
employer’s basic contribution). Employers also contribute a further 0.8% of 
pensionable salary to cover the cost of centrally-provided risk benefit cover (death in 
service and ill health retirement).  
 
The accrued pension quoted is the pension the member is entitled to receive when 
they reach pension age, or immediately on ceasing to be an active member of the 
scheme if they are already at or over pension age. Pension age is 60 for members of 
Classic, Premium and Classic Plus and 65 for members of Nuvos. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cabinet-office-civil-superannuation-accounts-2013-to-2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cabinet-office-civil-superannuation-accounts-2013-to-2014
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The Commissioners and Ombudsman are members of the Civil Service pension 
arrangements.   
 
Further details about the Civil Service pension arrangements can be found at the 
website http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/my-civil-service/pensions/index.aspx 
 
New Career Average pension arrangements will be introduced from 1st April 2015 
and the majority of classic , premium , classic plus and nuvos members will join the 
new scheme. Further details of this new scheme are available at 
http://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/members/the-new-pension-scheme-
alpha/. 
 
The pension scheme rules for MSPs and office holders (including the Lord Advocate 
and the Solicitor General for Scotland) were initially set out in The Scotland Act 1998 
(Transitory and Transitional Provisions)(Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme) 
Order 1999 (“the 1999 Order”).  The 1999 Order was subsequently replaced by the 
Scottish Parliamentary Pensions Act 2009 (“the 2009 Act”) from 1 September 2009 
and the replacement pension scheme rules are now set out under Schedule 1 of the 
2009 Act. 
 
The main benefits of the scheme are a pension of 1/50th or 1/40th of final salary for 
each year of service on retirement at age 65. Pensions are increased annually in line 
with changes in the Consumer Prices Index. Members accruing benefits at the rate 
of 1/40th pay a contribution equivalent to 11% of their MSP/office holder salary.  
Members accruing benefits at the rate of 1/50th pay a contribution equivalent to 6% 
of their MSP/office holder salary.  The SPCB pays the employer contribution 
representing the balance of cost as advised by the Government Actuary. For 2014-
15 the contribution rate was 20.2% of pensionable salary (20.2% 2013-14).  
 

Staff Report 
 

Staff composition 
 
A breakdown at the end of the financial year of the number of persons of each 
gender who were SPCB members, senior managers and employees of the SPCB is 
set out below: 

 
 Male Female Total 
SPCB members 2 (40%) 3 (60%) 5 (100%) 
Senior management 9 (75%) 3 (25%) 12 (100%) 
Employees (excluding 
above) 

218 (47%) 243 (53%) 461 (100%) 

 
Sickness absence data 
 
For the 12 month period from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015, an average of 6.05 
(2013-14 5.5) working days per member of staff were lost as a result of sickness 
absence. 

http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/my-civil-service/pensions/index.aspx
http://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/members/the-new-pension-scheme-alpha/
http://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/members/the-new-pension-scheme-alpha/
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si1999/19991082.htm
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si1999/19991082.htm
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si1999/19991082.htm
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/legislation/scotland/acts2009/asp_20090001_en_1
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Staff policies, specifically for disabled persons, applied during the financial year: 

 

 For giving full and fair consideration to applications for employment by the 
company made by disabled persons, having regard to their particular 
aptitudes and abilities; Accessibility commitment  

 For continuing the employment of, and for arranging appropriate training for, 
employees of the company who have become disabled persons during the 
period when they were employed by the company; - Guidance for Line 
Managers - Supporting Disabled Staff in the Workplace 

 Otherwise for the training, career development and promotion of disabled 
persons employed by the company; Guidance for Line Managers - Supporting 
Disabled Staff in the Workplace 

 

 The SPCB’s Code of Conduct applies to all the situations described above.  
 

The SPCB provides funding for the Scottish Commission for Human Rights (see 
Note 19).  
 
Expenditure on consultancy 
 
During 2014-15 £614,000 was spent on external consultancy including general and 
property advisors (£288,000 2013-14). The increase is attributable to a number of 
projects in 2014-15 including the on-line strategy, data architecture, building 
valuation, roof anchors and infrastructure improvements.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P E GRICE       Date:  9 September 2015 
Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive   

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/Recruitment/Accessibility_SP_2015.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/2013_08_23_FINAL_line_managers_guidance_on_disability.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/2013_08_23_FINAL_line_managers_guidance_on_disability.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/2013_08_23_FINAL_line_managers_guidance_on_disability.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/2013_08_23_FINAL_line_managers_guidance_on_disability.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/26069.aspx
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
Report of the Auditor General for Scotland to the Scottish Parliament 
 
I have audited the financial statements of Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body for 
the year ended 31 March 2015 under the Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000.  The financial statements comprise the Statement of 
Parliamentary Supply, the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement of 
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity and the related notes.  The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2014/15 Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (the 2014/15 FReM).  
 
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with 
the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose.  
In accordance with paragraph 125 of the Code of Audit Practice approved by me, I 
do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual 
capacities, or to third parties. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Principal Accountable Officer and auditor  
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Principal Accounting Officer's 
responsibilities, the Principal Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, 
and is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income.  My 
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland) as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General 
for Scotland.  Those standards require me to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.  I am also responsible for giving an opinion 
on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements  
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the body’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
Principal Accountable Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.  It also involves obtaining evidence about the regularity of expenditure 
and income.  In addition, I read all the financial and non-financial information in the 
annual report and accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by me in 
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the course of performing the audit.  If I become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements, irregularities, or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my 
report. 
 
Opinion on financial statements  
 
In my opinion the financial statements:  

 give a true and fair view in accordance with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made thereunder by the 
Scottish Ministers of the state of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2015 and of its net operating cost for the year then 
ended;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 2014/15 FReM; and  

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers. 

 
Opinion on regularity  
 
In my opinion in all material respects:  

 the expenditure and income in the financial statements were incurred or 
applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued 
by the Scottish Ministers, the Budget (Scotland) Act covering the financial 
year and sections 4 to 7 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000; and  

 the sums paid out of the Scottish Consolidated Fund for the purpose of 
meeting the expenditure shown in the financial statements were applied in 
accordance with section 65 of the Scotland Act 1998.  

 
Opinion on other prescribed matters  
 
In my opinion:  

 the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers; 
and  

 the information given in the Performance Report, the Report of the Corporate 
Body and Staff Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.  

 
Matters on which I am required to report by exception  
 
I am required to report to you if, in my opinion:  

 adequate accounting records have not been kept; or  

 the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to 
be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records; or  
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 I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit; 
or  

 the Governance Statement does not comply with guidance from the Scottish 
Ministers.  

 
I have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
 
 
 
 
 
Caroline Gardner CPFA 
Auditor General for Scotland 
110 George Street 
Edinburgh 
EH2 4LH 
 
11 September 2015 
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STATEMENT OF PARLIAMENTARY SUPPLY  
 
Summary of Resource and Capital Outturn 2014-15 
  

     2014-15        2013-14 

             

  BUDGET   OUTTURN       

            
Net Total 
Outturn    

Gross  NET Gross  NET  
compared 

with  
Prior 
Year 

Expenditure Income TOTAL Expenditure Income  TOTAL  Budget  Outturn 

          

 £’000 £’000       £’000        £’000 £’000 £’000              £’000  £’000 

NET OPERATING 
COST (Schedule 2) 
(i) 90,060 (1,000) 89,060 88,541 (827) 87,714  1,346  78,988 

 

CAPITAL – 
Purchase of non-
current assets  
(Notes 6 and 7)  (ii) 1,600 - 1,600 1,949 - 1,949  (349)  4,852 

 

TOTAL RESOURCE 
AUTHORISATION 91,660 (1,000) 90,660 90,490 (827) 89,663  997  83,840 

 
 

(i) Explanation of the variation between Budget and Outturn Net Operating Cost: 
£311k of the variance in budget is in respect of non-cash items (underspends of £255k on depreciation; £59k pension finance 
cost (net) with an overspend of £3k on estimated audit fees). Of the remaining £1,035k underspend against budget, Members’ 
costs account for an underspend of £1,127k, Commissioners’ funding an underspend of £122k and Parliamentary Service an 
overspend of £214k. 
 
(ii)Explanation of the variance between Budget and Outturn Capital 
An overspend variance of £349k occurred on Capital where the SPCB was able to take forward planned capital expenditure on 
IT and FM equipment, slightly earlier than originally forecast as a result of compensating changes to the phasing of planned 
revenue expenditure.  
 

Overall Cash Authorisation 2014-15  
 

  

BUDGET 
NET 

TOTAL    

OUTTURN 
NET 

TOTAL  

Net Total 
Outturn 

compared 
with 

Budget  

PRIOR 
YEAR 

OUTTURN  
 

OVERALL CASH 
AUTHORISATION 
(Schedule 4) (ii)   77,396   76,800  596  70,750 

Net cash requirement   77,396   75,946    72,370 
 
Net increase / 
(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents      854    (1,620) 

 
Overall cash 
authorisation   77,396   76,800  596  70,750 

 
 
(ii) Explanation of the variation between Budget and Outturn Overall Cash Authorisation: 
The actual cash drawdown (£76,800k) was within the cash budget for the year (£77,396k). The net increase / (decrease) in 
cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in the Statement of Cash Flows. 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 
For the year ended 31 March 2015 
 
 

   2014-15  

2013-14 
Restated 

 (Note 4 (e)) 

      

 Note  £'000  £'000 

Administration costs      

      

Staff costs 2  35,415  33,157 

Other administration costs 4  34,418  28,627 

Depreciation 6,7  10,645  10,110 

Other related parties 19  8,063  7,866 

      

Gross administration costs   88,541  79,760 

      

Operating income 5  (827)  (772) 

      

Net operating cost   87,714  78,988 

      
Other comprehensive 
expenditure      

      
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment 6  7,968  (19,193) 

      
Net (gain)/loss in respect of 
realised element of revaluation 
reserve    1,048  519 

      
Net (gain)/loss on pension 
reserves 3  6,725  (3,358) 

      

Total comprehensive 
expenditure   103,455  56,956 

      

      

  
 
   

      
 
 
The notes on pages 63 to 77 form part of these accounts.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 March 2015 

   31 March 2015  31 March 2014  

       

  Note £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000  

         

Non current assets:  

Property, plant and equipment 6 308,517   325,048   

Intangible assets  7 257   384   

Total non current assets    308,774   325,432  
         

Current assets         

Inventories  8 258   249   

Trade and other receivables  9 1,237   1,555   

Cash and cash equivalents 10 1,703   849  
 

Total current assets    3,198   2,653  

Total assets    311,972   328,085  
         

Current liabilities       
 

Trade and other payables (within 1 year) 11 (8,607)   (7,139)  
 

Total current liabilities   (8,607)   (7,139) 
 

 
Non current assets less net current 
liabilities   303,365   320,946 

 

         

Non current liabilities         

Other payables 12 (5)   -  
 

Provisions – restructuring 12,13 (179)   (337)  
 

Members’ pension liabilities 14 (16,876)   (7,910)  
 

Total non current liabilities    (17,060)   (8,247)  
         

Assets less liabilities    286,305   312,699  

         

Taxpayers' equity (Schedule 5)       
 

General fund    244,766   253,178  

Revaluation reserve   58,415   67,431 
 

Pension reserve   (16,876)   (7,910) 
 

Total taxpayers’ equity    286,305   312,699  

 
The Principal Accountable Officer authorised these financial statements for issue on 9 September 2015. The financial 
statements on pages 58 to 62 were approved by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body on 9 September 2015 and were 
signed on its behalf by:    
 
 
 
 
 
P E GRICE       Date: 9 September 2015 
Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive      
The notes on pages 63 to 77 form part of these accounts.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 March 2015 

  Note 2014-15  2013-14 

      

   £'000  £'000 

Cash flow from operating activities      

Net operating cost   (87,714)  (78,988) 

      

Adjustments for non cash items      

Non-cash charges  20 2,308  2,501 

Depreciation   6,7 10,645  10,110 

Income from donated artwork  6 (6)  - 

Movements in working capital      

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  8 (9)  10 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  9 318  (123) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  11 607  (722) 

Movements in provisions      

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  12, 13 (146)  (306) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities   (73,997)  (67,518) 

      

Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  6 (1,871)  (4,638) 

Purchase of intangible assets  7 (78)  (214) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities   (1,949)  (4,852) 

      

Net cash requirement   (75,946)  (72,370) 

      

Cash flows from financing activities      

Financing from the Consolidated Fund   76,800  70,750 

      

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   854  (1,620) 

     

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 April  2014 10 849  2,469 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March 2015  10 1,703  849 
 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   854  (1,620) 

 
 
 
The notes on pages 63 to 77 form part of these accounts. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY  
For the year ended 31 March 2015 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 

 

Note 
General 

fund 

 
Revaluation 

reserve 

 
Pension 
reserve 

Total 
reserves 

 
 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 
 

     

Balance at 31 March 2013 
 

 256,776 48,757 (8,833) 296,700 
 
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14 

 
     

Indexation of property, plant and equipment 
 

     

Buildings and fixed plant 
 

6  19,193  19,193 
 
Transfer in respect of realised element of 
revaluation reserve  

 

 519 (519)  - 

Net movement in pension reserve 
 

14   3,358 3,358 

Non-cash charges – auditor remuneration 
 

20 66   66 

Movement in cash balances 
 

10 1,620   1,620 

Net operating cost 
 

 (76,553)  (2,435) (78,988) 

Net funding 
 

 70,750   70,750 

 
 

     

Balance at 31 March 2014 
 

 253,178 67,431 (7,910) 312,699 

 
 

     
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15 
 
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 

 

     

Land 
 

6  700  700 

Buildings and fixed plant 
 

6  (8,840)  (8,840) 

Artwork and donated assets 
 

6  172  172 
 
Transfer in respect of realised element of 
revaluation reserve  

 

 1,048 (1,048)  - 
 
Net movement in pension reserve 

 
14   (6,725) (6,725) 

Non-cash charges – auditor remuneration 
 

20 67   67 

Movement in cash balances 
 

10 (854)   (854) 

Net operating cost 
 

 (85,473)  (2,241) (87,714) 

Net funding 
 

 76,800   76,800 

 
 

     

Balance at 31 March 2015 
 

 244,766 58,415 (16,876) 286,305 

 
 
 
The notes on pages 63 to 77 form part of these accounts
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 
1. Statement of accounting policies 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2014-15 UK Government Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM). The accounting policies contained in the FReM apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted 
or interpreted for the public sector context. Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which 
is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the SPCB for the purposes of giving a true and fair view has 
been selected. The particular policies adopted by the SPCB are described below. They have been applied consistently in 
dealing with items considered material to the accounts. 
 
a. Accounting Convention 
 
The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment, financial instruments and inventories where material, at their value by reference to their current costs. 
 
b. Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 
 
The SPCB hold the legal title to all land, buildings and fixed plant shown in the accounts.  
 
For land, buildings and fixed plant, the minimum level for capitalisation of spend is the greater of £10,000 or 0.5% of asset 
value, provided it is probable that the spend will bring future economic benefits. For other asset categories, the minimum level 
for capitalisation of spend is £5,000, including grouped value of related asset purchases. Furniture, fixtures and fittings are not 
capitalised.  
 
Land, buildings and fixed plant have been valued on a depreciated replacement cost basis for specialised buildings and will be 
revalued at current cost using professional valuations every 5 years. Appropriate indices will be used in intervening years. The 
first valuation occurred during 2004-05, when the Holyrood complex became operational and was professionally valued on a 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC) basis. The second professional valuation of the Holyrood complex on a DRC basis took 
place during 2009-10, and the third professional valuation of the Holyrood complex on a DRC basis took place during 2014-15. 
Please see note 6 for further information.  
 
Artwork and donated assets are professionally valued on the basis of Insurance every 5 years. The first valuation occurred 
during 2004-05, the second professional valuation took place during 2009-10, and the third professional valuation took place 
during 2014-15.  
 
All other assets are reported at depreciated historic cost. 

c. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are valued initially at cost and subsequently at fair value using the revaluation model. 

Where an active market does not exist, income generating assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and 
value in use. Non income generating assets are carried at depreciated replacement cost.  These valuation methods are 
considered to be a proxy for fair value.  

Future economic benefit has been used as the criteria in assessing whether an intangible asset meets the definition and 
recognition criteria of IAS 38 where assets do not generate income. IAS 38 defines future economic benefit as ‘revenue from 
the sale of products or services, cost savings, or other benefits resulting from the use of the asset by the entity.’  

 
d. Depreciation and amortisation 
 
Land, historic documents and records and works of art are not depreciated. Assets under construction are depreciated when 
they are brought into use.  
 
Depreciation has been provided at rates calculated to write off the valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment assets by equal 
instalments over their estimated useful lives which are normally in the following ranges:  
 
  Holyrood building      49 years 
  Holyrood fixed plant      5-20 years 
  Equipment and vehicles     5 years 
  IT systems      3 years  
 
Artwork and donated assets are capitalised at current value on receipt and income is recognised in the year of receipt. Donated 
assets are not depreciated. 
 
Amortisation is provided at rates calculated to write off the valuation of Intangible assets by equal instalments over their 
estimated useful lives which are normally in the following range: 
 
  IT software      3 years 
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e. Realised element on depreciation of revaluation reserve 
 
Depreciation is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on the revalued amount of the relevant assets. An 
element of depreciation arises from the increase in valuation and is in excess of the depreciation that would be charged on the 
historic cost of the relevant assets. The amount relating to this excess is the realised gain on revaluation and is transferred from 
the revaluation reserve to the general fund. 

    
f. Inventories 
 
All inventories held are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
g. Trade Receivables 
 
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts. A 
provision for impairment of trade receivables is established where there is observable evidence that the SPCB will not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to original terms. Trade receivable balances are written off when the SPCB determines 
that it is unlikely that future remittances will be received.  
 
h. Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables are stated at cost. 
 
i. Foreign Exchange 
 

Transactions which are denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the date of 

each transaction, except where rates do not fluctuate significantly, in which case an average rate for a period is used.  Foreign 

exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 

rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Net Expenditure. 

 

j. Operating Income 

 

Operating income is income that relates directly to the operating activities of the SPCB and is therefore recognised as revenue 

in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Income is stated excluding VAT. 

 
k. Pensions 
 
 The Civil Service Pension Arrangements 
 

Staff employed directly by the SPCB and the Parliamentary Commissioners and Ombudsman and their staff are 
members of the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS). The PCSPS is an unfunded multi-employer 
defined benefit scheme and the SPCB is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities and 
therefore there is no liability in the Statement of Financial Position. Details can be found in the separate scheme 
statement of the PCSPS Cabinet Office: Civil Superannuation (Civil Service Pensions). 
 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those 
that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period 
between formal actuarial valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. 
 
The last formal valuation undertaken for the PCSPS was published in July 2014 for the position as at 31 March 2012. 
The previous formal valuation undertaken for the PCSPS was completed in 2007. The primary purpose of the formal 
actuarial valuations is to set employer and employee contribution rates. 

 
 
 The Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme (SPPS)  
  

Originally, the pension scheme for the Members of the Scottish Parliament and Office Holders was established under 
the Scotland Act 1998 (Transitory and Transitional provisions) (Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme) Order 1999 
(S.I. No.1082). Due to a number of significant legislative changes affecting all UK pension schemes a new Scottish 
Parliamentary Pensions Act 2009 was established with new scheme rules, coming into force from 1 September 2009. 
The scheme is a defined benefit scheme, and applies to the salary of members, to any ministerial salary and the 
salary of the Lord Advocate and Solicitor General for Scotland. The cost of pension cover provided for the MSPs is 
by payment of charges calculated on an accruing basis, with liability for payment of future benefits charged to the 
Scottish Parliamentary Contributory Pension Fund (SPCPF). Any liabilities of the fund arising from a deficit on assets 
will be met through increased funding. The liability for this will be met by the SPCB through the Scottish Consolidated 
Fund. 

http://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/about-us/resource-accounts
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l. Leases 

Where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a leased property are borne by the entity, it should be recorded as 
a non-current asset and a corresponding creditor recorded in respect of the debt due to the lessor, with the interest element of 
the finance lease payment charged to the outturn statement.  Rentals payable in respect of operating leases should be charged 
to the outturn statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. The SPCB had no finance leases in 2014-15 or 
2013-14. 

 
m.  Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
The SPCB is treated as a Crown Body for the purposes of the Value Added Tax Act 1994 and accordingly for the purposes of 
Section 41 of that Act (application to the Crown) it is treated as a government department, and is exempt for VAT on the 
provision of parliamentary goods and services. The SPCB is standard rated for VAT on its trading activities, such as the 
Parliament shop. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated excluding VAT. 
 
n. Impending application of newly issued accounting standards not yet effective 

 
At 31 March 2015 there were no relevant accounting standards which had not been applied in the financial statements, or 
which would have an impact on the 2014-15 financial statements. 
 
o. Reimbursement of Members’ Expenses Scheme 
 
By virtue of sections 81(2) (5) (6) and 83 (5) of the Scotland Act 1998, the SPCB reimburses members in respect of expenses 
or costs incurred in each financial year in accordance with the Reimbursement of Members’ Expenses Scheme, subject to the 
various limits on expenses or costs under the Scheme.  
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2. Members and Staff Numbers and Costs 
 
 

A. Pay costs consist of:  

   2014-15 2013-14  

         

   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 
   

Total Staff 
Members and 
Office Bearers Total Staff 

Members and 
Office Bearers  

Salaries         

 SPCB  26,426 18,801 7,625 24,473 16,911 7,562 

 Seconded staff  694 694  647 647  

 Ministers   1,048  1,048 960  960 

Social security costs         

 SPCB  2,068 1,274 794 2,011 1,227 784 

 Seconded staff  62 62  99 99  

 Ministers   138  138 129  129 

Other pension costs         

 SPCB  4,634 3,108 1,526 4,542 3,026 1,516 

 Seconded staff  149 149  119 119  

 Ministers   196  196 177  177 
         

Total Salary Cost per Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure 35,415 24,088 11,327 33,157 22,029 11,128 

         
 

B. The average number of whole-time equivalent persons employed (including senior management) during the 
year was as follows: 

 

   2014-15 2013-14 

         
    

Total 
 

Staff 
Members and 
Office Bearers 

 
Total 

 
Staff 

Members and 
Office Bearers 

         

SPCB   432 432  432 432  

Seconded  staff  14 14  12 12  

Agency  35 35  31 31  

Ministers (including  2 Law Officers) 25  25 23  23 

MSPs 105  105 108  108 
 
 
 

C. The number of Members of the Scottish Parliament at 31 March 2015 is 128. With the death of the regional 
Independent Member for Lothian on 4 April 2014, the number of MSPs reduced to 128 until the start of the next 
Parliamentary session in May 2016. There was 1 death in service and no resignations during 2014-15.  

 
D. The SPCB is, as defined in the Scotland Act 1998 S.21, the Presiding Officer and 4 elected Members (see 

Report of the Corporate Body for detail). Apart from the Presiding Officer, they do not receive remuneration for 
carrying out the functions of the SPCB. All senior managers are staff of the SPCB. 



Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body Annual Accounts 2014-15 
Financial Statements 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

67 

 

3. Pensions 
 

a. Members of the Civil Service Pension Arrangements - see accounting policies. 
 
For 2014-15, employer’s contributions of £3,252,440 were payable to the PCSPS (2013-14 £3,117,206).  
 
Employees joining the SPCB after 1 October 2002 can opt to open a partnership pension account, being a 
stakeholder pension with an employer contribution. Employers' contributions of £17,870 (2013-14 £23,152) relating to 
stakeholder pensions were paid to one or more of a panel of four appointed stakeholder pension providers.  In 
addition, employer contributions of £1,058  (2013-14 £1,190) 0.8% of pensionable pay, were payable to the PCSPS 
to cover the cost of the future provision of lump sum benefits on death in service and medical retirement of 
employees with stakeholder pensions. Medical retirement is possible in the event of serious ill health. In this case, 
pensions are brought into payment immediately without actuarial reduction and with service enhanced as for 
widow(er) pensions. No individual retired early on ill-health grounds in 2014-15 (2013-14, one). 

 
 There were no outstanding or prepaid scheme contributions at the Statement of Financial Position date. 
 

On death, pensions are payable to the surviving spouse at a rate of half of the member's pension. On death in 
service, the Classic scheme pays a lump sum benefit of twice pensionable pay and the Premium scheme pays three 
times pensionable pay. A service enhancement is also provided in computing the spouse's pension. The 
enhancement depends on the length of service up to a maximum of ten years.  
 

 Staff seconded to SPCB from other organisations are members of the pension schemes operated by their respective 
 employers. 
 
           

b. Members of the Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme (SPPS) - see accounting policies.  
 

The pension scheme for the Scottish Parliament Members provides benefits based on final pensionable pay. The 
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the SPCB and are managed by an Investment Manager. The 
Government Actuary was required to produce an initial actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the SPCPF 
as at 6 May 1999 and thereafter to conduct a full valuation at three yearly intervals. The last valuation dated 9 
February 2015 covered the period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2014. 

 
The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are as follows: 

 

 
Note 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

 
 

£’000 £’000 

Present value of scheme liabilities 
 

72,648 57,076 

Fair value of scheme assets 
 

55,772 49,166 

Net liability (surplus) 14 16,876 7,910 
 

 
The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure are as follows: 

 

 
 

2014-15 2013-14 

 
 

£’000 £’000 

Current service cost 
 

3,572 3,704 

Reduction in past service cost * 
 

- - 

Total operating charge 
 

3,572 3,704 
 
* Past service costs arise when an employer undertakes to provide a different level of benefits than previously 
promised.  The Government Actuary’s Department is not aware of any material past service costs which have 
arisen over 2014-15 or 2013-14.  
 

 
 

  
Analysis of the amount recognised in Statement of 
Financial Position 

 
  

Interest cost 
 

2,591 2,404 

Interest on scheme assets 
 

(2,200) (1,982) 

Total cost 
 

391 422 
 
 

Total cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure 

 
3,963 4,126 
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Allocated in the accounts as follows: 
 

 
Note 

2014-15 2013-14 

 
 

£’000 £’000 

Other pension costs (contributions by employer)  1,722 1,691 

Pension Finance Cost (Net) 4 2,241 2,435 

Total 
 

3,963 4,126 
 
 

Analysis of amount recognised in Statement of Change in Taxpayers’ Equity (SCITE) (Schedule 5): 

 2014-15 2013-14 

 £’000 £’000 

Actual less expected return on scheme assets 2,653 505 

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities 3,364 974 

Changes in assumptions underlying the present scheme liabilities (12,742) 1,879 

Total actuarial gains/(loss) recognised in SCITE (Schedule 5) (6,725) 3,358 
 

The demographic assumptions determine the incidence of the benefit outflow and include factors such as mortality 
(in service and in retirement), withdrawal from service, proportions married and ages of dependants. The 
demographic assumptions are chosen by reference to the specific experience of the scheme membership, and were 
reviewed as part of the actuarial valuation of the scheme at 31 March 2014. 
 
The demographic assumptions (including mortality) adopted to determine the Current Service Cost for the year 
ending 31 March 2015 are those applicable at the start of the year; that is, those adopted to calculate the liability at 
31 March 2014 for the 2013-14 Accounts.  
 
The demographic assumptions adopted for the assessment of the liabilities as at 31 March 2015, and to determine 
the Current Service Cost for the year ending 31 March 2016, have been set by the SPCB based on assumptions 
used for the 2014 valuation. The assumptions used to prepare the 2013-14 Accounts were based on the 
assumptions used for the 2011 valuation.  
 
Changes in the present value of the scheme liabilities are as follows: 

 

 
31 March 2015 

£’000 
31 March 2014 

£’000 

Opening liability 
 

57,076 54,335 

Current service cost 
 

3,572 3,704 

Interest cost 
 

2,591 2,404 

Contributions by members 
 

906 890 

Actuarial losses 
 

9,378 (2,853) 

Net transfers-in, less benefits paid out 
 

(875) (1,404) 

Closing liability 
 

72,648 57,076 
 

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows: 

 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

 £’000 £’000 

Opening fair value of scheme assets 49,166 45,502 

Interest on scheme assets 2,200 1,982 

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets 2,653 505 

Contributions by employer 1,722 1,691 

Contributions by members* 914 894 

Benefits paid and expenses (883) (1,408) 

Closing fair value of scheme assets 55,772 49,166 
* including transfers in and transfers out by members 

 
The SPCB expects to contribute £ 1,761,000 to the Members’ Pension Fund in 2015-16. Employer contributions from 
1 April 2015 were 20.2 % of pensionable pay, the rate recommended in the 2014 formal valuation.  
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Movement in deficit during the year: 
 

 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 
 £’000 £’000 

Deficit at 1 April (7,910) (8,833) 

Current service cost (net of members contributions) (3,572) (3,704) 

Contributions by SPCB 1,722 1,691 

Other finance income (391) (422) 

Actuarial gain/(loss) (6,725) 3,358 

Deficit at 31 March  (16,876) (7,910) 
 
 

The major categories of scheme assets as a percentage to total scheme assets are as follows: 
 

 
 

2014-15 2013-14 

Equities 
 

65% 65% 

Bonds 
 

27% 27% 

Cash 
 

1% 7% 

Property 
 

7% 1% 
 

 
 
 
 
Principal actuarial assumptions at the Statement of Financial Position date: 

 
 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

Discount rate 3.3% 4.4% 

Future salary increases * 4.2% 4.5% 

Rate of return in excess of:   

Pension increases (CPI) 1.1% 1.9% 

Earnings increases (0.9)% (0.1)% 

Expectation of life at age 65 (years)   

Current pensioners - men 25.5 25.0 

Current pensioners - women 27.5 26.2 
 
* This is a long term salary increase assumption and has been derived as 2.0%  (2013-14  2.0%) per annum in excess of cost 
price inflation. This assumption is also consistent with the valuation assumption. This gap is based on historical evidence of the 
difference between increase to National Average earnings and Cost Price Inflation. As a long term measure, it is not 
necessarily an indication of the expected level of salary increase for MSPs in the coming years. 
 
 
Further information on the Scottish Parliamentary Contributory Pension Fund can be found in the accounts for the scheme 
ending 31 March 2015 which are published on the Scottish Parliament web site. 



Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body Annual Accounts 2014-15 
Financial Statements 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

70 

 

4. Other administration costs 
 

   2014-15 
2013-14  

Restated 

      

   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

       

Reimbursement of members’ expenses (a)  11,997  11,987 
 
Financial assistance for registered political parties (b)  467  442 
 
Electoral Commission (e)  1,656  185 
 
Rentals under operating leases   24  24 
 
Other accommodation costs:      

 Rates (d) 3,748  1,211  

 Utilities  844  839  

 Other  4,768 9,360 3,470 5,520 

      

Travel and expenses, hospitality   631  602 

Other expenditure:      

 External consultants  614  288  

 Equipment and IT maintenance  2,295  2,157  

 Postage, stationery and publications (c) 1,611  1,615  

 Broadcasting  -  1  

 Other staff costs  533  531  

 Other  2,922 7,975 2,774 7,366 

 
Non-cash items:      

 Pension finance cost (net) 3, 14, 20 2,241  2,435  

 Auditor's remuneration and expenses 20 67 2,308 66 2,501 

Total other admin cost per Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure   34,418  28,627 

 
 

(a) Details of reimbursement of members’ expenses excluding salary details of staff employed by members is published 
on the SPCB website. 

 
(b) Under the Financial Assistance for Registered Political Parties Order 1999, the registed political parties in the 

Parliament are entitled to monies to assist their Members to carry out their parliamentary duties. 
 

(c) Other expenditure – postage, stationery and publications - includes the costs incurred by members in respect of their 
postage and stationery provision supplies to assist them in the discharge of their parliamentary duties. An analysis of 
these costs, by individual member, is published separately. 

 
(d) During 2013-14, the Lothian Valuation Joint Board reduced the rateable value for the Parliament Building, as shown 

in the Valuation Roll in force from 1 April 2010, from £9,475,000 to £7,620,000. This resulted in a rebate to the SPCB 
of £3.294 million in respect of the rates already paid for the 4 years from 2010 to 2013-14. This rebate was offset 
against the cost of rates paid in year 2013-14. The full amount of the rebate in 2013-14 was returned to the Scottish 
Budget through a reduction in the SPCB’s Departmental Expenditure Limit (DEL) and cash authorisation for 2013-14 
via the Spring Budget Revision. With the External Screening Facility completed in year 2013-14, additional rates of 
£42,400 were paid in 2013-14 for the part-year this was operational, and rates were paid for a full year in 2014-15. 
 

(e) As set out in the Scottish Independence Referendum Act 2013, in both 2013-14 and 2014-15, a payment was made 
to the Electoral Commission in respect of funding its costs for public awareness activity and guidance in relation to 
the 2014 referendum. The Electoral Commission is responsible for the management of its funds and preparation of 
its accounts. Other administration costs of £28,627,000 for 2013-14 have been increased by £185,000 to reflect the 
reallocation of the payment to the Electoral Commission from disclosure as part of 2013-14’s Other related parties 
costs, which is reduced by the same amount. This has no impact on Gross administration costs.  

 

http://mspallowances.scottish.parliament.uk/
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5. Operating income 
 

   2014-15  2013-14 

   £’000  £'000 

Operating income analysed by classification     

and activity, is as follows:     

 Income from broadcasting  86  3 

 Shop trading income  282  269 

 Hospitality income  320  319 

 Audio visual income  61  47 

 Miscellaneous income  72  134 

 Income from donated artwork  6  - 

Total income  827  772  

 
Income figures, disclosed above, are shown before the deduction of expenses incurred. 
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6. Property, plant and equipment 
 
       2014-15 
 

  Land 

Buildings 
and Fixed 

Plant 

Equipment 
and 

Vehicles IT systems 

Assets 
under 

construction 

Artwork and 
donated 

assets  Total 

Cost or valuation £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

At 1 April 2014 8,500 368,495 2,314 5,712 13 1,065 386,099 

Additions (purchased) - (21) 940 944 - 8 1,871 

Additions (donated) - - - - - 6 6 

Disposals - - - (758) - - (758) 

Revaluation 700 (17,485) - - - 172 (16,613) 

At 31 March 2015 9,200 350,989 3,254 5,898 13 1,251 370,605 

         

Depreciation        

At 1 April 2014 - 55,661 1,375 4,015 - - 61,051 

Charged in year - 9,173 390 877 - - 10,440 

Disposals - - - (758) - - (758) 

Revaluation  - (8,645) - - - - (8,645) 

At 31 March 2015 - 56,189 1,765 4,134 - - 62,088 

         

Net book value        

At 31 March 2015 9,200 294,800 1,489 1,764 13 1,251 308,517 

At 1 April 2014 8,500 312,834 939 1,697 13 1,065 325,048 
 
 
Assets under construction refer to capital projects which are not yet complete. 
 
Note: 
 
The principal non-current asset of the SPCB is the parliamentary building at Holyrood, Edinburgh. This was occupied in the 
2004-05 financial year when the Parliament land and building were first professionally valued on a depreciated replacement 
cost basis as at 7 January 2005 by James Barr (Chartered Surveyors). In line with the SPCB’s non-current asset accounting 
policy of a full revaluation commissioned at a minimum of every five years, James Barr (Chartered Surveyors) undertook a full 
revaluation of the Parliament land and buildings on 7 January 2010 at £306,500,000. GVA James Barr undertook a subsequent 
full revaluation of the Parliament land and buildings as at 31 March 2015 at £304,000,000. This included structural buildings 
valued at £269,473,000, a land value of £9,200,000 and £25,327,000 in respect of fixed plant. The valuation was made in 
accordance with the RICS Professional Standards January 2014, as amended, incorporating the International Valuation 
Standards 2013. The valuation is an assessment of Fair Value, referenced to Depreciated Replacement Cost, with an inherent 
assumption of on-going use by the Parliament. Revaluation may result in an increase or decrease of the previous recorded 
value. This reduced the Cost by £16,785,000, the cumulative Depreciation by £8,645,000, and the Revaluation Reserve by 
£8,140,000.  
 
Artwork and donated assets are professionally valued on the basis of Insurance every 5 years. The third professional valuation 
took place during 2014-15. Revaluation may result in an increase or decrease of the previous recorded value. This increased 
both the Cost and the Revaluation Reserve by £172,000. 
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6. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
 
       2013-14 

  Land 

Buildings 
and Fixed 

Plant 

 
Equipment 

and 
Vehicles IT systems 

Assets 
under 

construction 

Artwork and 
donated 

assets  Total 

Cost or valuation £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

At 1 April 2013 8,500 341,061 1,951 4,871 2,296 1,065 359,744 

Additions (purchased) - - 363 1,051 3,224 - 4.638 

Transfers - 5,507 -  (5,507) - - 

Disposals - - - (210) - - (210) 

Indexation - 21,927 - - - - 21,927 

At 31 March 2014 8,500 368,495 2,314 5,712 13 1,065 386,099 

         

Depreciation        

At 1 April 2013 - 44,342 1,065 3,429 - - 48,836 

Charged in year - 8,585 310 796 - - 9,691 

Disposals - - - (210) - - (210) 

Indexation  - 2,734 - - - - 2,734 

At 31 March 2014 - 55,661 1,375 4,015 - - 61,051 

         

Net book value        

At 31 March 2014 8,500 312,834 939 1,697 13 1,065 325,048 

At 1 April 2013 8,500 296,719 886 1,442 2,296 1,065 310,908 
 
 
 

7. Intangible assets 
 
  2014-15  2013-14 

  £’000  £’000 

  IT Software  IT Software 

Cost     

At 1 April   2,316  2,102 

Additions  78  214 

Disposals  (142)  - 

At 31 March    2,252  2,316 

    
 

Amortisation    
 

At 1 April   1,932  1,513 

Charged in year  205  419 

Disposals  (142)  - 

At 31 March    1,995  1,932 

    
 

Net book value    
 

At 31 March   257  384 

At 1 April   384  589 
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8. Inventories 
 

 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

 £’000 £’000 

Retail  72 81 

Other stock 186 168 

 258 249 

 
 

9. Trade and other receivables: amounts falling due within one year 
 

 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

 £’000 £’000 

VAT 482 586 

Trade receivables 152 161 

Prepayments and accrued income 509 689 

Other receivables 94 119 

 1,237 1,555 

 

10.   Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

 £’000 £’000 

   

Balance at 1 April 849 2,469 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 854 (1,620) 

Balance at 31 March  1,703 849 

 

Balances at Government Banking Service 1,649 821 

Balances at Commercial banks and cash in hand 54 28 

Total balance 1,703 849 

 

 
11. Trade and other payables: amounts falling due within one year 
 

 Note 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

  £’000 £’000 

    

Accruals and deferred income  4,190 3,900 

Trade payables  491 266 

Other payables  1,630 1,538 

Scottish Consolidated Fund (SCF)  1,703 849 

Restructuring  provision 13 157 214 

Capital retention 13 127 127 

Members staff pensions scheme provision 13 309 245 

 
 

8,607 7,139 

 
 

12. Other payables: amounts falling due outwith one year 
 

  31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

  £’000 £’000 

    

Accruals and deferred income  5 - 

Restructuring  provision 13 179 337 

  184 337 
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13. Provisions for liabilities and charges  

Restructuring provision 

 
 

Note 2014-15 2013-14 

  £’000 £’000 
Balance at  1 April 

 
551 886 

(Utilised) in year  (218) (339) 

Increase in provision 
 

3 4 

Balance at 31 March   336 551 

 

Amount due within one year 11 157 214 

Amount due after one year 12 179 337 

Balance at 31 March   336 551 

 
 
A voluntary early severance/voluntary early retirement scheme was held in 2008-09 for senior staff. This provision will continue 
until normal retirement age is reached. A voluntary early severance/voluntary early retirement scheme open to all staff was held 
in 2010-11. Terms and conditions were under the Civil Service Compensation Scheme Arrangements. 
 

Capital retention 

 
 

Note 2014-15 2013-14 

  £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April  

 
127 103 

Established in year  - 24 

Balance at 31 March   127 127 

 

Amount due within one year 11 127 127 

Amount due after one year  - - 

Balance at 31 March   127 127 

 
The capital retention relates to the contract for construction of the External Security Facility which commenced in October 2012 
and completed in autumn 2013.  
 

Members’ staff pension scheme provision 

 
 

Note 2014-15 2013-14 

  £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April  

 
245 240 

Established in year  64 5 

Balance at 31 March   309 245 

 

Amount due within one year 11 309 245 

Amount due after one year  - - 

Balance at 31 March   309 245 

 
 

14.  Net funded Members Pension Scheme Liability 
 
Under IAS 19, a liability of £16,876,000 is recognised for the Scottish Parliamentary Contributory Pension Fund. Further 
information is provided on this in note 3.  
 

 Note 2014-15 2013-14 

  £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April  

 
7,910 8,833 

Net movement in Pension Reserves 3 6,725 (3,358) 

Pension Finance Cost (Net) 4 2,241 2,435 

Balance at 31 March 3 16,876 7,910 
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15. Capital Commitments 
 
There are no capital commitments as at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014 £nil).  
 
 

16. Commitments under leases 
 
Operating leases 
 
Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given in the table below for each of the following periods: 

     

   2014-15 2013-14 

   £’000 £’000 

Buildings:   

 Not later than one year  - - 
 
Other:     

 Not later than one year  217 159 

 

 
Later than one year and not later 
than five years  - - 

 
   217 159 

   
 
Finance leases 
 
There are no finance leases in operation (2013-14 none). 
  

17.  Financial Instruments 
 
As the cash requirements of the SPCB are met through the Scottish Consolidated Fund budgeting process, financial 
instruments play a more limited role in creating risk than would apply in a non public sector body of a similar size. The majority 
of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with the SPCB’s expected purchase and usage 
requirements. The SPCB is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. 
 
 

18. Contingent Liabilities 
 
a) The SPCB has provided a number of letters of indemnity for loaned artwork which is on display within the Scottish 

Parliament. At 31 March 2015 the maximum contingent liability in respect of these indemnities was £475,518 (31 March 
2014 £561,618).   

 
b) Support staff employed by Members of the Scottish Parliament have contractual rights to have the equivalent of 10% of 

gross annual salary contributed towards a pension, but not all have exercised this right. In advance of auto-enrolment 
under the Pensions Act 2008 for members’ staff which will apply from 1 July 2016 there is an on-going exercise to 
approach those who have outstanding entitlement and invite them to enrol. A provision of £309,000 (note 11 and 13) has 
been created to reflect our estimate of the potential uptake. The additional potential liability of £309,000 has been reflected 
as a contingent liability.   

 

  

Amount 
Outstanding at 
31 March 2015 

£’000 

Amount 
Outstanding at 
31 March 2014 

£’000 Comments 
 
Pension contributions for Support 
Staff who have not enrolled in a 
pension scheme  309 248 Possible 

     
 

19.  Related Party Transactions 
 

Scotland’s Futures Forum Limited (SFF) was established on 16 August 2005 as a Company Limited by Guarantee. It was 
created by the Scottish Parliament to help its Members, along with policy makers, businesses, academics, and the wider 
community of Scotland, look beyond immediate horizons, to some of the challenges and opportunities in the future. All shares 
are owned by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body who also hold the controlling interest in the SFF. The net contribution 
is included in our accounts but the SPCB does not consolidate on grounds of immateriality. A set of the accounts is available on 
request. 
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The SPCB has a number of transactions with the Scottish Government and with other government departments and public 
bodies, including Historic Scotland and HM Revenue & Customs. Additionally, regular transactions take place with the Scottish 
Parliamentary Pension Scheme, see note 3. 
 
In 2014-15 the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman, the Scottish Information Commissioner, the Commissioner for Children 
and Young People in Scotland, the Scottish Commission for Human Rights, the Commissioner for Ethical Standards in Public 
Life in Scotland, and the Standards Commission for Scotland were responsible for the management of their funds and 
preparation of their accounts. Further detail on their accounts can be found on the appropriate websites.  
 
 
Funding provided was: 
 

 2014-15 2013-14 
Restated 

   

 £’000 £’000 

   

Scottish Public Services Ombudsman 
3,271 3,202 

Scottish Information Commissioner 
1,517 1,371 

Commissioner for Children and Young People in Scotland 
1,235 1,224 

Scottish Commission for Human Rights 
955 932 

Commissioner for Ethical Standards in Public Life in Scotland 
785 815 

Standards Commission for Scotland 
216 238 

Scotland’s Futures Forum Limited  
84 84 

Net Cost (Schedule 2) 
8,063 7,866 

 
 
 

20. Non cash charges 
  
The following non cash charges have been included in the accounts: 

     Note 2014-15 2013-14 

      £’000 £’000 

        

Pension finance cost (net)   4 2,241 2,435 

Auditor's Fee    4 67 66 

     2,308 2,501 

 
 

21. Losses Statement 
 
There were no individual losses or special payments in excess of £300,000 which would require separate disclosure. 

 

 

22.      Post Statement of Financial Position events 

 

There are no material post Statement of Financial Position events that require to be adjusted in the accounts or to be disclosed.
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SCOTTISH PARLIAMENTARY CORPORATE BODY 

 
DIRECTION BY THE SCOTTISH MINISTERS 

in accordance with section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 

Act 2000 

 

 

The statement of accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2007 and 
subsequent years shall comply with the accounting principles and disclosure 
requirements of the edition of the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) which is in force for the year for which the statement of accounts are 
prepared. 

 

The accounts shall be prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the net 
resource outturn, resources applied to objectives, recognised gains and 
losses and cash flows for the financial year, and of the state of affairs as at 
the end of the financial year. 

 

This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the statement of 
accounts.   The direction given on 15 July 2002 is hereby revoked.   

  
 

 
Signed by the authority of the Scottish Ministers 

 

Dated 17 January 2006 
 

 


